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OUR VALUES AND GOALS

To be distinguished
as a reliable and
Innovative Pan-African
Financial Services
Leader

To provide financial
security through
reliable and innovative
Insurance solutions

• Integrity
• Professionalism
• Reliability
• Respect

KENYA RWANDA

ZAMBIA UGANDA

TANZANIA DR CONGO

Our Regional presence and growing customer base shows our 
commitment to deliver exceptional customer experience
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29-May-23

Has a

Group Head of Ratings

29-May-23

Mayfair Insurance Company Limited

A+National Scale: (KE)  / Outlook: Stable

Financial Strength Rating of

We have a well established robust Insurance 
infrastructure and are proud to be rated A+ (KE)
by the Global Credit Rating (GCR) Agency on 
our financial strength rating.
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COMPANY ACTIVITIES

REMOVE

Mayfair Bancaladies Wine & Dine event

Intermediaries Training held in Mombasa

Staff Team Building Helding In Naivasha

Golf Event With Our Partners

Intermediaries Training held in Eldoret

AKI Sports held in Nyayo Stadium

STAFF ACTIVITIES

INTERMEDIARIES TRAINING

EVENTS WITH OUR PARTNERS

TOTO’S CHILDRENS HOME
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
At Mayfair Insurance Company, we understand 
that much needs to be done to promote an inclu-
sive society, in which all people have the opportu-
nity	to	better	their	lives	and	fulfil	their	potential.	
We recognize too, that many require assistance 
in various ways, with education being one of the 
initiatives that can make an enormous difference 
in their lives.  

Through our educational sponsorship program 
over the years, Mayfair Insurance has and con-
tinues to extend support to needy children in the 
community. We believe education is a necessary 
investment as it is the backbone of any develop-
ing nation. The continued success of the students 
we	are	supporting	affirms	 the	 future	progress	&	
security of each student as well as the community 
at large. 

In 2022 our program supported students in the 
Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary levels of their ed-
ucation.	More	specifically	we	sponsored	students	

at Starehe Boys’ Centre, Starehe Girls Centre, as 
well as children with Albinism at the Salvation 
Army	Thika	Primary	&	High	School	for	the	Blind.
Mayfair has also supported Toto Childrens’ Home 
and made other donations to the Shree Cutchi 
Leva Patel Samaj in Eldoret, Ronald Koch Chil-
dren Trust in Mombasa, and the Cerebral Palsy 
Foundation Centre. 

In the short- to medium-term, we anticipate that 
we will increase our momentum with the intention 
of continuing to foster employee engagement in 
our CSR activities and mobilizing resources to do 
more and create a positive impact in our society.

SUPPORTING CHILDREN WITH ALBINISM

TOTO’S CHILDRENS HOME
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VISHAL PATEL VISHAL PATEL - CHAIRMAN MAYFAIR INSURANCE
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
It is a great honor to present to you the annual 
report	and	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	
31st December 2022.

These accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS).

Business Environment 

Kenya’s economy continued to rebound from the 
pandemic in 2022 with real gross domestic prod-
uct (GDP) increasing by 6% year-on-year in the 
first	half	of	2022,	driven	by	broad-based	increases	
in services and industry. 

This recovery was, however, dampened by global 
commodity price shocks, the long regional drought, 
and uncertainty in the run-up to the 2022 general 
elections. Notably, in December 2022, Fitch Rat-
ings downgraded Kenya’s Long-Term Foreign-Cur-
rency Issuer Default Rating (IDR) to ‘B’ from ‘B+’ 
with a Stable Outlook. 

The downgrade was mainly attributable to Kenya’s 
persistent	 fiscal	 and	 external	 deficits,	 high	 pub-
lic	debt,	and	high	external	financing	costs	which	
presently constrain access to international capital 
markets.

GCR Rating

The	Global	Credit	Rating	(GCR)	affirmed	the	Com-
pany’s	financial	strength	rating	of	A+(KE);	Outlook	
Stable	 in	2022.	The	financial	 strength	 rating	 re-
flects	 the	Company’s	strong	financial	position	at-
tributed to very strong risk-adjusted capitalization, 
sound liquidity, and robust earnings. 

The Company’s Risk-adjusted capitalization re-
mains very strong, supported by solid internal cap-
ital generation and preservation.

Business and Financial Results

The Board takes note of our business resilience 
and is pleased with Mayfair Insurance Company’s 
overall performance in the year. The Company re-
ported Gross Written Premiums amounting to Shs. 
5.5 billion, a 30% growth from the prior period. 
The	 Company	 recorded	 an	 underwriting	 profit	 of	

Shs.	327	million,	and	an	operating	Gross	Profit	be-
fore income tax of Shs. 1.045 billion after taking 
into account investment and other income, a 72% 
growth from the prior period.

The shareholder’s funds amounted to Shs. 4.26 
billion as at 31st December 2022, while the total 
assets grew by 27% to close at Shs. 11.44 billion.

Regional Performance

On the regional front, the Company continues to be 
keen on bolstering operations to optimize returns 
across the Associates. 

This is yielding result, with the Group posting a 
total Gross Written Premium of USD 95.1M as at 
31st December 2022, being a 19% growth from 
the prior period. The individual company perfor-
mance was as below:

• Mayfair Tanzania posted a 24% growth to close 
at Gross Written Premiums of USD 14.3 M

• Mayfair Rwanda posted a 25% growth in Gross 
Premiums Written to close at USD 4.9M 

• Mayfair Uganda posted a 34% growth to close 
at Gross Written Premiums of USD 4.7M

• Mayfair DRC posted a 58% growth to close at 
Gross Written Premiums of USD 17.6M

• Mayfair Zambia closed at Gross Written Premi-
ums of USD 8.9M

With these results, we are optimistic about our re-
gional	business	as	they	continue	to	post	profitable	
results.

Dividends

The	Board	recommends	a	first	and	final	cash	div-
idend of Shs. 23.33 per share amounting to Shs. 
350,000,000. The Directors recognize the need 
to retain adequate reserves for re-investing back 
to support the ambitious growth strategy as well as 
meeting the statutory capital requirements.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT CONT...
Board of Directors & Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors remains strong with a di-
verse mix of skills and a wealth of experience. 
They	are	strong	profiles	with	 insight	and	knowl-
edge. In the last couple of years, we have de-
liberately aimed at strengthening areas that we 
consider strategically important to the Company. 

Three Committees sit Quarterly:
The Board Strategic Committee, chaired by Mr. 
Rajnikant Varia and includes Directors Mrs. Diana 
Bird, Mr. Shamil Manek and Mr. Joshua Chiira,
 
The Board Audit, Risk, and Compliance Commit-
tee, chaired by Ms. Deepa Doshi, and includes 
Directors, Mr. Rajnikant Varia, Mr. Alvin Rachier 
and Mr. Joshua Chiira.

The	Board	Investment	&	HR	Committee,	chaired	
by Mr. Bharat Shah and includes Directors Mr. 
Alvin Rachier, Mr. Bhavik Patel and Mr. Joshua 
Chiira.

The responsible Committees charged with com-
pliance to corporate governance standards report 
regularly to the Board of Directors.

Human Resources

We have strong, consistent people policies de-
signed to make Mayfair Insurance Company a 
great place to work.

During the year the key strategic plan was to en-
sure proper talent sourcing, career development, 
performance management, culture, engagement, 
and workforce planning. Very deliberate and clear 
initiatives aimed at having a workforce that is ad-
equate and with the right skills and competencies 
will continue in place. 

Strategic Direction

The Board approved the robust 3-year Strategic 
plan	 that	 is	 hinged	 on	 6	 key	 pillars:	 Profitable	
Growth, Customer Centricity, Technology, People 
Management, Brand awareness as well as lever-
aging on Group synergy.

The Board will continue to monitor the execution 
and implementation of this strategy closely. As 

we head into the future, the Board is optimistic 
about the opportunities arising from the various 
strategies underlying the pillars. 

2023 Outlook

According to the Kenya economic update report 
by the World Bank, Kenya’s economy is projected 
to	grow	by	an	average	five	per	cent	(5%)	this	year,	
World Bank now says, as global and domestic 
shocks continue to impact on economies. Kenya 
has endured prolonged droughts which have low-
ered agricultural output, a sector already stressed 
by high production costs. The Kenyan shilling 
continues to record depreciation against the US 
Dollar. 

This is the lowest the Kenyan shilling has gone 
against the dollar. Additionally, the aggressive 
public debt accumulation, especially external 
debt at a 10-year CAGR of 19.0% to Kshs 4.8 tn 
in December 2022, from Kshs 0.8 tn in the same 
period in 2012 has continued to exert pressure 
on the Kenyan shilling, due to the increased ser-
vicing costs. 

Appreciation

The Board of Directors would like to recognize 
the efforts of all those employees who have re-
mained so committed to delivering outstanding 
service to our customers and stakeholders over 
the past year.

The Board of Directors wishes to thank our loyal 
customers, partners, directors, and our dedicated 
staff	for	their	continued	confidence	in	the	Com-
pany and we look forward to sharing more suc-
cesses with you. We will strive to be worthy of the 
trust you have bestowed on us.

Moving forward, we remain steadfast in delivering 
on our strategy and growing shareholders’ wealth. 
Lastly, I thank you, fellow board members for 
your contribution, dedication, and support as we 
together propel this great organization to higher 
heights.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The	Directors	submit	their	report	together	with	the	audited	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	
31 December 2022 which disclose the state of affairs of Mayfair Insurance Company Limited (“the 
Company”).	The	annual	report	and	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	IFRS	
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Standards) and the re-
quirements of the Companies Act, 2015.

Business review 

Principal activity

The principal activity of the Company is the underwriting of general classes of insurance business as 
defined	by	the	Insurance	Act.

Principal risks and mitigation strategies

Key	risks	that	the	Company	is	exposed	to	are	included	in	Note	4	of	the	financial	statements.

The following are also risks faced by the Company:

Capital adequacy risk – The Company’s Capital Adequacy Ratio at 31 December 2022 was 209% 
(2021 - 195%). 
Credit risk – The Company’s credit control policy is to maintain outstanding premiums days to less 
than 90 days. 

Company’s performance

The	Company	recorded	a	profit	before	tax	of	Shs	1,045	million	(2021	–	Shs	608	million).

Key performance indicators

The table below highlights some of the key performance indicators over a period of 4 years.

Dividend

The	Directors	recommend	a	first	and	final	cash	dividend	of	Shs.	23.33	per	share	amounting	to	Shs.	
350,000,000 (2021 Cash dividend of Shs. 8.33 per share amounting to Shs 125,000,000).

Directors

The	Directors	who	held	office	during	the	year	and	to	the	date	of	this	report	are	set	out	on	page	1.

Performance Indicator 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Shs 000 Shs 000 Shs 000 Shs 000 Shs 000

Underwriting	profit 273,952 270,026 193,109 178,010 326,647
Gross loss ratio % 35% 64% 89% 47% 55%
Profit	before	income	tax	 508,344 509,431 521,012 608,068 1,044,615
Net assets 2,700,638 2,906,185 3,236,889 3,479,005 4,257,932
Capital adequacy ratio % 242% 245% 255% 195% 209%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS CONT...
Relevant audit information

The	Directors	in	office	as	at	the	date	of	this	report	can	confirm	that:

There	is	no	relevant	information	of	which	the	Company’s	auditor	is	unaware;	and
Each Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director so as to be aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that informa-
tion.

Employees

The average number of employees in 2022 was 105 (2021: 100). 2022 managerial staff averaged 
at 16 (2021: 13) while non-managerial staff averaged at 89 (2021: 87). During the year the key 
strategic plan was to ensure proper talent sourcing, career development, performance management, 
culture, engagement and workforce planning. Very deliberate and clear initiatives aimed at having a 
workforce that is adequate and with the right skills and competencies were put in place.

Auditor

The	Company	auditor,	KPMG	Kenya,	who	were	appointed	to	office	during	the	year	continues	in	office	
by virtue of section 719 of the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015.

Professional indemnity cover

This is provided in line with best market practice to provide protection for the non-executive directors 
in undertaking their duties in such capacity.

Approval of financial statements

The	financial	statements	were	approved	and	authorised	for	issue	at	a	meeting	of	the	Directors	held	on	
30 March 2023.

By order of the Board

Company Secretary

Date: 30th March 2023                
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VIshal Patel 
Chairman

Bharat Shah
Director

Joshua Chiira
Managing Director

The	Directors	 are	 responsible	 for	 the	 preparation	 and	 presentation	 of	 the	 financial	 statements	 of	
Mayfair Insurance Company Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 26 to 90 which comprise the 
statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	December	2022,	and	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss,	state-
ment	of	comprehensive	income,	statement	of	changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	
year	then	ended,	and	notes	to	the	financial	statements	including	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	
policies.

The Directors’ responsibilities include determining that the basis of accounting described in Note 2 
as	an	acceptable	basis	for	preparing	and	presenting	the	financial	statements	in	the	circumstances,	
preparation	and	presentation	of	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	IFRS	Standards	as	issued	by	
the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Standards) and in the manner required by the 
Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary 
to	enable	the	preparation	of	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatements,	whether	
due to fraud or error.

Under	the	Kenyan	Companies	Act,	2015,	the	Directors	are	required	to	prepare	financial	statements	
for	each	financial	period	which	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position	of	the	Company	as	at	
the	end	of	the	year	and	of	the	profit	or	loss	of	the	Company	for	that	year.	It	also	requires	the	Directors	
to ensure the Company keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the 
financial	position	of	the	Company	and	its	profit	or	loss.

The	Directors	accept	responsibility	for	the	annual	financial	statements,	which	have	been	prepared	
using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, 
in conformity with IFRS Standards and in the manner required by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015. 
The	Directors	are	of	the	opinion	that	the	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	
position	of	the	Company	and	of	its	profit	or	loss.

The Directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of accounting records which may be 
relied	upon	in	the	preparation	of	financial	statements,	as	well	as	adequate	systems	of	internal	finan-
cial control. 

The Directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
have no reason to believe the Company will not be a going concern for at least the next twelve months 
from the date of this statement.

Approval	of	the	financial	statements

The	financial	statements,	as	indicated	above,	were	approved	and	authorised	for	issue	by	the	Board	of	
Directors on 30th March 2023.

Date: 30th March 2023,

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
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VIshal Patel 
Chairman

Bharat Shah
Director

Joshua Chiira
Managing Director

REPORT OF THE CONSULTING ACTUARY 
I have conducted an Insurance Liability Valuation of the short-term business of Mayfair Insurance 
Company Limited as at 31 December 2022.

The valuation was conducted in accordance with the generally accepted actuarial principles and the 
requirements of The Kenya Insurance Act. These principles require prudent provision for insurance 
liabilities	in	the	financials	on	a	best	estimate	basis.

I verify that the calculation of the short-term insurance liabilities as at 31 December 2022 is appro-
priate. 

I	am	satisfied	that	the	Unearned	Premium	Reserve,	Deferred	Acquisition	Cost,	Outstanding	Claims	
Reserve,	Incurred	But	Not	Reported	Reserve	as	per	the	valuation	are	sufficient	and	appropriate	given	
the nature of the business and existing liabilities.

James I. O. Olubayi
Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries
Zamara Actuaries, Administrators & Consultants Limited 

Date: 30th March 2023
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR
Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Mayfair Insurance Company Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements   

Opinion 

We	have	audited	the	financial	statements	of	Mayfair	Insurance	Company	Limited	(the	“Company”)	
as	set	out	on	pages	26	to	90	which	comprise	the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	December	
2022,	and	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss,	statement	of	comprehensive	income,	statement	of	changes	
in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	notes	to	the	financial	statements,	
including	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies.

In	 our	 opinion,	 the	 accompanying	 financial	 statements	 give	 a	 true	 and	 fair	 view	 of	 the	 financial	
position	 of	 Mayfair	 Insurance	 Company	 Limited	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2022,	 and	 of	 its	 financial	
performance	and	its	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended	in	accordance	with	IFRS	Standards	as	issued	
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Standards) and in the manner required by the 
Kenyan Companies Act, 2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	section	of	our	report.	We	are	independent	of	the	Company	in	
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), 
together	with	the	ethical	requirements	that	are	relevant	to	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements	in	
Kenya,	and	we	have	fulfilled	our	other	ethical	responsibilities	in	accordance	with	these	requirements	
and	the	IESBA	Code.	We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key	audit	matters	are	 those	matters	 that,	 in	our	professional	 judgment,	were	of	most	significance	
in	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	current	period.	These	matters	were	addressed	in	the	
context	of	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements	as	a	whole,	and	in	forming	our	opinion	thereon,	and	
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR CONT...
Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Mayfair Insurance Company Limited (Continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

OUTSTANDING CLAIMS PROVISION 

SEE NOTE 2(H), 3 AND 28 TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED

Outstanding claims provision constitute about 61% 
of the Company’s total liabilities. Valuation of these 
provisions is highly judgmental, and requires a 
number of assumptions to be made that have high 
estimation uncertainty. This is particularly the case 
for those provisions that are recognised in respect 
of claims that have occurred, but have not yet been 
reported to the Company (incurred but not reported 
(IBNR)).

Small changes in the assumptions used to value the 
provisions, particularly those relating to the amount 
and timing of future claims, can lead to material 
impacts on the valuation of outstanding claims 
provision.

The key assumptions that drive the reserving 
calculations (determination of insurance contract 
liabilities) include loss ratios, claim expense 
assumptions and claim development factors. The 
valuation of outstanding claims provision depends 
on accurate data about the volume, amount and 
pattern of current and historical claims since they 
are often used to form expectations about future 
claims. If the data used in calculating outstanding 
claims provision, or for forming judgments over key 
assumptions, is not complete and accurate then 
material impacts on the valuation of outstanding 
claims provision may arise. 

Consequently, we have determined the valuation 
of outstanding claims provision to be a key audit 
matter.

 

Our audit procedures in this area included:

• Obtaining an understanding of the processes, 
systems and applications used in determination 
of outstanding claims provision. This included 
assessing the design and operating effectiveness 
of key controls around the claims handling and 
reserve	setting	processes	of	the	Company;

• Inspecting claims received and claims paid 
immediately after 31 December 2022 to assess 
whether there were any unrecorded insurance 
contract	 liabilities	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 period;	
Checking samples of claims reserves through 
comparing the estimated amount of the reserve to 
appropriate documentation, such as reports from 
loss	adjusters;

• Obtaining samples of outstanding claims reserves 
and comparing the estimated amount of the 
reserve	to	reports	from	loss	adjusters;

• Re-performing reconciliations between the data 
recorded	in	the	financial	systems	and	the	data	used	
in the actuarial reserving calculations including 
selecting a sample of the data and comparing to 
the policy documents to ensure its complete and 
accurate;

• Evaluating the appropriateness of management’s 
liability adequacy testing by assessing the historical 
incurred	 but	 not	 reported	 (IBNR)	 sufficiency	
as well as the Unexpired Risk Reserve through 
performing an actual vs expected analysis on prior 
years’	reserves	for	any	surpluses	or	shortfalls;

• Using our internal actuarial specialists to assist us 
in assessing the appropriateness of the methodology 
and the reasonableness of the assumptions used 
by management in the estimation of IBNR reserves 
at 31 December 2022 by comparing economic 
assumptions to market observable data e.g. 
inflation	rates	and	non-economic	assumptions	e.g.	
expense ratio and claims recovery rates against the 
Company’s historical experience, current trends 
and our own industry knowledge.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Mayfair Insurance Company Limited (Continued)

Other matter

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR CONT...

The	financial	statements	of	the	Company	for	the	
year ended 31 December 2021 were audited by 
another	 auditor	 who	 expressed	 an	 unmodified	
opinion on those statements on 31 March 2022.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other infor-
mation. The other information comprise the infor-
mation included in the Mayfair Insurance Compa-
ny	Limited	Annual	report	and	financial	statements	
for the year ended 31 December 2022, but does 
not	include	the	financial	statements	and	our	au-
ditor’s report thereon.

Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	
cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon, other 
than that prescribed by the Kenyan Companies 
Act, 2015 as set out below.

In	 connection	 with	 our	 audit	 of	 the	 financial	
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information	identified	and,	in	doing	so,	consider	
whether the other information is materially in-
consistent	with	 the	financial	 statements,	 or	 our	
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise ap-
pears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other informa-
tion, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ responsibilities for the financial 
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation 
of	financial	statements	 that	give	a	 true	and	fair	
view in accordance with IFRS Standards and in 
the manner required by the Kenyan Companies 
Act, 2015 and for such internal control, as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation	of	financial	statements	that	are	free	
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In	preparing	the	financial	statements,	the	direc-
tors are responsible for assessing the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or have no real-
istic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about	whether	the	financial	statements	as	a	whole	
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individual-
ly or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected	to	influence	the	economic	decisions	of	
users	taken	on	the	basis	of	these	financial	state-
ments.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain pro-
fessional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material mis-
statement	of	the	financial	statements,	wheth-
er due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and	 obtain	 audit	 evidence	 that	 is	 sufficient	
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omis-
sions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.                                                                                     
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR CONT...
Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Mayfair Insurance Company Limited (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of  the directors’  use  of  the  going concern  basis  of  ac-
counting  and, based  on  the  audit  evidence  obtained,  whether  a  material  uncertainty  ex-
ists		related		to		events		or	conditions	that	may	cast	significant	doubt	on	the	Company’s	ability	to	
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw	attention	in	our	auditor’s	report	to	the	related	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements	or,	if	
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate	 the	overall	presentation,	 structure	and	content	of	 the	financial	 statements,	 including	
the	disclosures,	and	whether	the	financial	statements	represent	the	underlying	transactions	and	
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the	audit	and	significant	audit	findings,	including	any	significant	deficiencies	in	internal	control	that	
we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most sig-
nificance	in	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	current	period	and	are	therefore	the	key	audit	
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about  the  matter  or  when,  in  extremely  rare  circumstances,  we  determine  that  a  
matter should  not  be  communicated  in  our  report  because  the  adverse  consequences  of  doing 
so	would	reasonably	be	expected	to	outweigh	the	public	interest	benefits	of	such	communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

As required by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, we report to you based on our audit, that in our 
opinion the information given in the report of the directors on pages 2 and 3 is consistent with the 
financial	statements.

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is CPA 
Dr.	Alexander	Mbai	–	Practicing	Certificate	No.	P2172.

For and on behalf of:

KPMG Kenya
Certified Public Accountants
PO Box 40612 – 00100
Nairobi, Kenya

Date: 31st March 2023 
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Statement	of	profit	or	loss	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2022	

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December

Notes      2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Gross written premiums 5,520,093 4,262,081

Gross earned premiums 5 5,293,847 4,143,472

Less: reinsurance premiums ceded (2,605,057) (2,117,153)

Net earned premiums 2,688,790 2,026,319

Investment income 6 538,079 427,508

Commissions earned 746,699 505,475

Other income 7 38,369 10,082

Total income 4,011,937 2,969,384

Net claims incurred 8 (1,654,516) (1,209,379)

Operating and other expenses 9(a) (   632,881) (   550,325)

Commissions payable (   860,541) (   624,901)

Impairment	losses	on	financial	assets 9(b) (       4,009) (     13,461)

Finance cost 32 (          580) (       1,262)

Total expenses (3,152,527) (2,399,328)

Share	of	profit	of	associate	after	tax 16 185,205 38,012 

Profit before income tax 1,044,615 608,068

Income tax expense 11 (   255,716) (   158,194)

Profit for the year 788,899 449,874

The	notes	set	out	on	pages	31	to	90	form	an	integral	part	of	these	financial	statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Year ended 31 December

Notes                 
2022

              
2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Profit for the year 788,899 449,874

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Fair value gains/(loss) on equity investment at FVOCI 18 120,902 ( 18,211)

Exchange gain equity investments at FVOCI 18 5,317 2,451

Surplus on revaluation of building 12 9,848 9,496

Deferred income tax 33 (  21,039) (   1,494)

Other comprehensive income for the year 115,028 (   7,758)

Total comprehensive income for the year 903,927 442,116
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
Statement	of	profit	or	loss	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2022	

The	financial	statements	on	pages	26	to	90	were	approved	and	authorised	for	issue	by	the	board	of	
Directors 
on 30th March 2023

Notes                   2022 2021

ASSETS Shs’000 Shs’000

Property and equipment 12 350,467 353,025

Investment properties 15 564,656 426,089

Intangible assets 13 9,995 15,137

Investment in associates 16 1,225,531 971,716

Right-of-use assets 14 9,342 7,660

Investment in joint arrangements 17 278,162 321,288

Equity investments at fair value through other compre-
hensive income 18 253,316 373,844

Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrange-
ments 21 621,903 695,553

Receivables arising out of reinsurance arrangements 125,735 155,313

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions and reserves 19 2,190,434 1,227,978

Deferred acquisition cost 20 305,897 247,904

Government securities at amortised cost 23 3,725,790 2,969,675

Corporate bonds at amortised cost 24 29,556 29,556

Other receivables 22 299,340 44,696

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 25 1,131,386 910,962

Cash and bank balances 35(b) 319,350 264,097

TOTAL ASSETS 11,440,860 9,014,493

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners 

Share capital 27(a) 1,500,000 1,500,000

Fair value revaluation reserve 27(b) 137,668 11,449

Property revaluation reserve 27(c) 122,803 133,994

Retained earnings 27(d) 2,497,461 1,833,562

Total equity 4,257,932 3,479,005

Liabilities

Outstanding claims provision 28 4,373,484 2,808,190

Unearned premium reserve 30 1,841,340 1,584,973

Payables arising from direct insurance arrangements 47,853 98,795

Payables arising out of reinsurance arrangements 380,112 591,732

Deferred reinsurance commission 31 160,187 140,735

Lease liabilities 32 10,230 9,085

Other payables 34 215,370 199,095

Current income tax 11 59,489 31,382

Deferred income tax 33 94,863 71,501

Total liabilities 7,182,928 5,535,488

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 11,440,860 9,014,493

VIshal Patel 
Chairman

Bharat Shah
Director

Joshua Chiira
Managing Director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2021: Share 
capital 

Fair value 
revaluation 

reserve   

Property 
revaluation 

reserve

Retained 
earnings Total equity

Shs’000  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Balance at 1 January 2021 1,500,000 417,480 125,992 1,193,417 3,236,889

Profit	for	the	year - - - 449,874 449,874

Other comprehensive income: - (  15,760) 8,002 - (      7,758)

Total comprehensive income  -   (  15,760) 8,002 449,874 442,116

Transfer of gain on disposal of 
equity investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income to retained earnings

- (390,271) - 390,271 -

Transactions with owner:

Dividends:

Dividends Paid -2019 - - - (200,000) (  200,000)

Balance at 31 December 2021 1,500,000 11,449 133,994 1,833,562 3,479,005

Share 
capital 

Fair value 
revaluation 

reserve   

Property 
revaluation 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total equity

2022: Shs’000  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Balance at 1 January 2022 1,500,000 11,449 133,994 1,833,562 3,479,005

Profit	for	the	year - - - 788,899 788,899

Other comprehensive income: - 126,219 (  11,191) - 115,028

Total comprehensive income - 126,219 (  11,191) 788,899 903,927

Transactions with owner:

Dividends:

Dividends Paid - 2021 - - - 125,000 125,000

Balance at 31 December 2022 1,500,000 137,668 122,803 2,497,461 4,257,932
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Statement	of	profit	or	loss	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2022	

Notes              2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 35(a) 1,302,026 1,288,366

Income tax paid 11(c) (  225,286) (  137,886)

Net cashflows generated from operating activities 1,076,740 1,150,480

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment 12 (    14,177) (       8,042)

Purchase of intangible assets 13 (      9,265) (     11,458)

Purchase of investment property 15 (  157,859) -

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 12 554   30

Payment of lease liabilities 32 (      5,212) (       5,415)

Net disposal of equity investments 18 246,747 508,862

Proceeds from sale of joint arrangements 17 46,000 (            59)

Investment in associates 16 (    68,610) (   534,690)

Purchase of equity investments 18 - (       3,534)

Purchase of joint arrangements 17 (         590) -

Net investments in treasury bonds maturing after 90 days 23 (  713,651) (1,047,528)

Net investments in corporate bonds 24 - (     29,556)

Net cashflows from investing activities (  676,063) (1,127,931)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid to shareholders (  125,000) (   200,000)

Net cashflows from financing activities (  125,000) (   200,000)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 275,677 (   177,451)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,175,059 1,352,510

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 35(b) 1,450,736 1,175,059
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NOTES
Notes to the Financial Statements

1. General information
  
Mayfair Insurance Company Limited (the Company) transacts in general insurance business and is 
incorporated in Kenya under the Companies Act, 2015 as a private limited liability Company. 
The	Company	is	domiciled	in	Kenya	and	the	address	of	its	registered	office	is:
  
Mayfair Centre, 8th Floor
Ralph Bunche Road
PO Box 45161 – 00100
Nairobi 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
  
The	principal	accounting	policies	applied	in	the	preparation	of	these	financial	statements	are	set	out	
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a. Basis of preparation

i. Statement of compliance
The	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	IFRS	Standards	as	issued	by	the	In-
ternational Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Standards) and in the manner required by the Kenyan 
Companies	Act,	2015.	For	the	Kenyan	Companies	Act	2015	reporting	purposes	in	these	financial	
statements,	the	balance	sheet	is	represented	by	the	statement	of	financial	position	and	the	profit	and	
loss	is	represented	by	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.
 
ii. Basis of measurement
The	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	under	the	historical	cost	basis,	except	for	the	following	
items which are carried at fair value:

-	Financial	instruments	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,
-	Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	income,	and;
- Investment properties

iii. Functional and presentation currency
The	financial	statements	are	presented	in	Kenya	Shillings	(KShs),	which	is	the	functional	currency	of	
the	company.	Except	as	otherwise	indicated,	financial	information	presentation	in	Kenya	shillings	has	
been rounded to the nearest thousand (KShs ’000’).

iv. Use of estimates and judgement
In	preparing	these	financial	statements,	management	has	made	judgements,	estimates	and	assump-
tions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised 
prospectively. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assump-
tions	and	estimates	are	significant	to	the	financial	statements	are	disclosed	in	Note	3.

v. Going concern
The	financial	performance	of	the	Company	is	set	out	in	the	Director’s	report	and	in	the	statement	of	
profit	or	loss	and	other	comprehensive	income.	
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)
 

v. Going concern (continued)
The	financial	position	of	the	Company	is	set	out	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	and	disclosures	
in	respect	of	risk	management	are	set	out	in	Note	4.	Based	on	the	financial	performance	and	position	
of the Company and its risk management policies the Directors are of the opinion that the Company 
is	well	placed	to	continue	in	business	for	the	foreseeable	future.	As	a	result,	the	financial	statements	
are prepared on going concern basis.

vi. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

New standards, amendments, and interpretations effective and adopted through the year

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2022 and 
earlier application is permitted. However, the Company has not early adopted the new standards in 
preparing	these	financial	statements.	

The	above	standards	and	interpretations	did	not	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	financial	
statements.

New and amended standards and interpretations and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for 
the year ended 31 December 2022

Description Effective date 

Newly effective standards for 01 Jan 2022 to 31 Dec 2022
Covid – 19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to 
IFRS 16)

1 Jan 2022

Onerous	Contracts	-	Costs	of	Fulfilling	a	contract	(Amendments	to	IAS	37) 1 Jan 2022
Annual Improvements to IFRS standards 2018 – 2020 (Amendments to IFRS 1) 1 Jan 2022
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use (Amendments to IAS 16) 1 Jan 2022
Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) 1 Jan 2022

Standards available for early adoption Effective date 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 Jan 2023
Amendments to IFRS 17 1 Jan 2023
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 8) 1 Jan 2023
Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction 
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes

1 Jan 2023

Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 Comparative Information (Amendments 
to IFRS 17)

1 Jan 2023

Classification	of	liabilities	as	current	and	non-current	(Amendments	to	IAS	1) 1 Jan 2024
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16) 1 Jan 2024
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16) 1 Jan 2024
Non – current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1) 1 Jan 2024
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)
  
vi. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

New and amended standards and interpretations and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for 
the year ended 31 December 2022
 
The	Company	will	apply	IFRS	17	for	the	first	time	on	1	January	2023.	These	standards	will	bring	sig-
nificant	changes	to	the	accounting	for	insurance	and	reinsurance	contracts	and	are	expected	to	have	
a	material	impact	on	the	Company’s	financial	statements	in	the	period	of	initial	application.

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Company

a. Estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 17 

The Company is assessing the actual impact of adopting IFRS 17 on 1 January 2023 and 2022 and 
is continuing with the below:
1. The	Company	is	continuing	to	refine	the	new	accounting	processes	and	internal	controls	required	

for applying IFRS 17
2. Although parallel runs were carried out in 2022, the new systems and associated controls in place 

have not been operational for a more extended period
3. The	Company	has	not	finalized	the	testing	and	assessment	of	controls	over	its	new	IT	systems	and	

changes	to	its	governance	framework;	and
4. The new accounting policies, assumptions, judgments and estimation techniques employed are 

subject	to	change	until	the	Company	finalises	its	first	financial	statements	that	include	the	date	
of initial application.

b. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2023, with early adoption permitted.

Identifying contracts in the scope of IFRS 17

IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of in-
surance contracts and reinsurance contracts.

When identifying contracts in the scope of IFRS 17, in some cases the Company will have to assess 
whether a set or series of contracts needs to be treated as a single contract and whether other ser-
vices components have to be separated and accounted for under another standard. For insurance and 
reinsurance	contracts,	the	Company	does	not	expect	significant	changes	arising	from	the	application	
of these requirements.

Disclosures and some of the presentation requirements of IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presen-
tation. On transition to IFRS 17, they will no longer be subject to those requirements because the 
presentation and disclosure requirements of IFRS 17 will apply to them.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

ii.  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Company (continued)

b. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

Level of aggregation

Under IFRS 17, insurance contracts are aggregated into groups for measurement purposes. Groups 
of	contracts	are	determined	by	first	identifying	portfolios	of	contracts,	each	comprising	contracts	sub-
ject to similar risks and managed together. Contracts in different product lines are expected to be in 
different portfolios. Each portfolio is then divided into annual cohorts (i.e. by year of issue) and each 
annual cohort into three groups:

• Any contracts that are onerous on initial recognition
• Any	 contracts	 that,	 on	 initial	 recognition,	 have	 no	 significant	 possibility	 of	 becoming	 onerous	

subsequently;	and
• Any remaining contracts in the annual cohort.

When a contract is recognised, it is added to an existing group of contracts or, if the contract does not 
qualify for inclusion in an existing group, it forms a new group to which future contracts may be add-
ed. Groups of reinsurance contracts are established such that each group comprises a single contract.

The	level	of	aggregation	requirements	of	IFRS	17	limit	the	offsetting	of	gains	on	groups	of	profitable	
contracts, which are generally deferred as a CSM, against losses on groups of onerous contracts, 
which are recognised immediately. Compared with the level at which the liability adequacy test is 
performed under IFRS 4 (i.e. portfolio of contracts level), the level of aggregation under IFRS 17 is 
more	granular	and	is	expected	to	result	in	more	contracts	being	identified	as	onerous	and	losses	on	
onerous contracts being recognised sooner.

Contract boundaries

Under	IFRS	17,	the	measurement	of	a	group	of	contracts	includes	all	of	the	future	cash	flows	within	
the boundary of each contract in the group. Compared with the current accounting, the Company 
expects that for certain contracts the IFRS 17 contract boundary requirements will change the scope 
of	cash	flows	to	be	included	in	the	measurement	of	existing	recognised	contracts,	as	opposed	to	fu-
ture unrecognised contracts. The period covered by the premiums within the contract boundary is the 
‘coverage period’, which is relevant when applying a number of requirements in IFRS 17.

Insurance contracts

For	insurance	contracts,	cash	flows	are	within	the	contract	boundary	if	they	arise	from	substantive 
rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company can compel the 
policyholder to pay premiums or has a substantive obligation to provide services (including insurance 
coverage). A substantive obligation to provide services ends when:

• The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the particular policyholder and can 
set	a	price	or	level	of	benefits	that	fully	reflects	those	reassessed	risks;	or

• The Company has the practical ability to reassess the risks of the portfolio that contains the con-
tract	and	can	set	a	price	or	level	of	benefits	that	fully	reflects	the	risks	of	that	portfolio,	and	the	
pricing of the premiums up to the reassessment date does not take into account risks that relate 
to periods after the reassessment date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

ii. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Company (continued)  

Reinsurance contracts

For	reinsurance	contracts,	cash	flows	are	within	the	contract	boundary	if	they	arise	from	substantive	
rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company is compelled to pay 
amounts to the reinsurer or has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer. A substantive 
right to receive services from the reinsurer ends when the reinsurer:

• Has the practical ability to reassess the risks transferred to it and can set a price or level of ben-
efits	that	fully	reflects	those	reassessed	risks;	or

• Has a substantive right to terminate the coverage.

Some of the Company’s quota share reinsurance contracts cover underlying contracts issued within 
the annual term on a risk-attaching basis and provide unilateral rights to both the Company and the 
reinsurer to terminate the attachment of new underlying contracts at any time by giving three months’ 
notice to the other party. Currently, the measurement of these reinsurance contracts generally aligns 
with that of the underlying contracts and considers only underlying contracts already ceded at the 
measurement	date.	However,	under	IFRS	17	cash	flows	arising	from	underlying	contracts	expected	
to be issued and ceded after the measurement date, in addition to those arising from underlying con-
tracts already ceded, may be within the boundaries of the reinsurance contracts

Measurement — Overview

IFRS 17 introduces a measurement model based on the estimates of the present value of future cash 
flows	that	are	expected	to	arise	as	the	Company	fulfils	the	contracts,	an	explicit	risk	adjustment	for	
non-financial	risk	and	a	contractual	service	margin	(CSM).

All	the	insurance	contracts	and	all	reinsurance	contracts	are	expected	to	be	classified	as	contracts	
without direct participation features.

Premiums Allocation Approach (PAA)

The	PAA	is	an	optional	simplified	measurement	model	in	IFRS	17	that	is	available	for	insurance	and	
reinsurance contracts that meet the eligibility criteria.

The Company expects that it will apply the PAA to all contracts because the following criteria are 
expected to be met at inception.

• Insurance	contracts	and	loss-occurring	reinsurance	contracts;	The	coverage	period	of	each	con-
tract	in	the	group	is	one	year	or	less;

• Risk-attaching reinsurance contracts: The Company reasonably expects that the resulting mea-
surement of the asset for remaining coverage would not differ materially from the result of apply-
ing the accounting policies described above.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

ii.  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Company (continued)

Insurance acquisition cash flows 

Insurance	acquisition	cash	flows	arise	from	the	activities	of	selling,	underwriting	and	starting	a	group	
of contracts that are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the group belongs.

Insurance	acquisition	cash	flows	that	are	directly	attributable	to	a	group	of	contracts	(e.g.	non	-	re-
fundable commissions paid on issuance of a contract) are allocated only to that group and to the 
groups that will include renewals of those contracts.

On initial recognition of each group of contracts, the carrying amount of the liability for remaining 
coverage is measured at the premiums received on initial recognition. The Company will elect to rec-
ognise	insurance	acquisition	cash	flows	under	the	balance	sheet	as	assets	and	amortize	the	cost	over	
the period of the cover. Subsequently, the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage is 
increased by any further premiums received and decreased by the amount recognised as insurance 
revenue for services provided. The Company expects that the time between providing each part of 
the services and the related premium due date will be no more than a year. Accordingly, as permitted 
under	IFRS	17,	the	Company	will	not	adjust	the	liability	for	remaining	coverage	to	reflect	the	time	
value	of	money	and	the	effect	of	financial	risk.

If at any time before and during the coverage period, facts and circumstances indicate that a group 
of	contracts	is	onerous,	then	the	Company	will	recognise	a	loss	in	profit	or	loss	and	increase	the	lia-
bility	for	remaining	coverage	to	the	extent	that	the	current	estimates	of	the	fulfilment	cash	flows	that	
relate to remaining coverage exceed the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage. The 
fulfilment	cash	flows	will	be	discounted	(at	current	rates)	if	the	liability	for	incurred	claims	is	also	
discounted.

The Company will recognise the liability for incurred claims of a group of contracts at the amount 
of	the	fulfilment	cash	flows	relating	to	incurred	claims.	The	future	cash	flows	will	be	discounted	(at	
current rates) unless they are expected to be paid in one year or less from the date the claims are 
incurred.

The Company will apply the same accounting policies to measure a group of reinsurance contracts, 
adapted	where	necessary	to	reflect	features	that	differ	from	those	of	insurance	contracts.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

ii. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Company (continued)  

Impact Assessment

Although the PAA is similar to the company’s current accounting treatment when measuring liabili-
ties for remaining coverage, there could be some changes expected in the accounting for insurance 
contracts.

The company is in the process of assessing the impact of these changes in the company’s total equity.

Measurement — Significant judgements and estimates

Estimates of future cash flows

In	estimating	future	cash	flows,	the	Company	will	incorporate,	in	an	unbiased	way,	all	reasonable	and	
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date. This infor-
mation includes both internal and external historical data about claims and other experience, updated 
to	reflect	current	expectations	of	future	events.

The	estimates	of	future	cash	flows	will	reflect	the	Company’s	view	of	current	conditions	at	the	re-
porting date, as long as the estimates of any relevant market variables are consistent with observable 
market prices.

When	estimating	future	cash	flows,	the	Company	will	take	into	account	current	expectations	of	future	
events	that	might	affect	those	cash	flows.	However,	expectations	of	future	changes	in	legislation	that	
would change or discharge a present obligation or create new obligations under existing contracts will 
not be taken into account until the change in legislation is substantively enacted.

Cash	flows	within	the	boundary	of	a	contract	are	those	that	relate	directly	to	the	fulfilment	of	the	
contract.	These	include	payments	to	(or	on	behalf	of)	policyholders,	insurance	acquisition	cash	flows	
and	other	costs	that	are	incurred	in	fulfilling	contracts.	Insurance	acquisition	cash	flows	and	other	
costs	that	are	incurred	in	fulfilling	contracts	comprise	both	direct	costs	and	an	allocation	of	fixed	and	
variable overheads.

Cash	flows	will	be	attributed	to	acquisition	activities	and	other	fulfilment	activities.	Cash	flows	at-
tributable	to	acquisition	and	other	fulfilment	activities	will	be	allocated	to	groups	of	contracts	using	
methods that are systematic and rational and will be consistently applied to all costs that have sim-
ilar	characteristics.	The	Company	will	generally	allocate	insurance	acquisition	cash	flows	to	groups	
of contracts based on the total premiums for each group, and maintenance and administration costs 
based on the number of in-force contracts in each group.



38

NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

ii.  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Company (continued)

Presentation and disclosure

IFRS	17	will	significantly	change	how	insurance	contracts	and	reinsurance	contracts	are	presented	
and	disclosed	in	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

Under IFRS 17, portfolios of insurance contracts that are assets and those that are liabilities, and 
portfolios of reinsurance contracts that are assets and those that are liabilities, are presented sep-
arately	 in	 the	statement	of	financial	position.	All	 rights	and	obligations	arising	 from	a	portfolio	of	
contracts	will	be	presented	on	a	net	basis;	 therefore,	balances	such	as	 insurance	receivables	and	
payables will no longer be presented separately. 

Any	assets	or	liabilities	recognised	for	cash	flows	arising	before	the	recognition	of	the	related	group	
of	contracts	(including	any	assets	for	insurance	acquisition	cash	flows)	will	also	be	presented	in	the	
same line item as the related portfolios of contracts.

Under	IFRS	17,	amounts	recognised	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	and	OCI	are	disaggregated	into;

• An	insurance	service	result,	comprising	insurance	revenue	and	insurance	service	expenses;	and
• Insurance	finance	 income	or	expenses.	Amounts	 from	 reinsurance	contracts	will	be	presented	

separately.

The	separate	presentation	of	underwriting	and	financial	 results	under	 IFRS	17	will	provide	added	
transparency	about	the	sources	of	profits	and	quality	of	earnings.
 
Insurance service result 

For contracts measured using the PAA, insurance revenue is recognised based on an allocation of ex-
pected premium receipts to each period of coverage, which is based on the passage of time for other 
contracts. The requirements in IFRS 17 to recognise insurance revenue over the coverage period will 
result in slower revenue recognition compared with the Company’s current practice of recognising 
revenue when the related premiums are written.

Amounts recovered from reinsurers and reinsurance expenses will no longer be presented separately 
in	profit	or	loss,	because	the	Company	will	present	them	on	a	net	basis	as	‘net	expenses	from	rein-
surance contracts’ in the insurance service result, but information about these will be included in the 
disclosures.

The	Company	will	choose	not	to	disaggregate	changes	in	the	risk	adjustment	for	non-financial	risk	
between	the	insurance	service	result	and	insurance	finance	income	or	expenses.	All	changes	in	the	
risk	adjustment	for	non-financial	risk	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	will	be	included	in	the	insurance	
service result.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

ii. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Company (continued)  

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 17 will be applied using a full ret-
rospective approach to the extent practicable, except as described below. Under the full retrospective 
approach, at 1 January 2023 the Company will:
• Identify, recognise and measure each group of insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts as 

if	IFRS	17	had	always	been	applied;
• Identify,	recognise	and	measure	any	assets	for	insurance	acquisition	cash	flows	as	if	IFRS	17	had	

always been applied, except that they will not be tested for recoverability before 1 January 2022
• Derecognise previously reported balances that would not have existed if IFRS 17 had always been 

applied recognise any resulting net difference in equity. 

If it is impracticable to apply a full retrospective approach to a group of contracts or to an asset for 
insurance	acquisition	cash	flows,	then	the	Company	will	choose	between	the	modified	retrospective	
approach and the fair value approach. However, if the Company cannot obtain reasonable and sup-
portable	information	necessary	to	apply	the	modified	retrospective	approach,	then	it	will	apply	the	
fair value approach.

The Company considers the full retrospective approach impracticable under any of the following cir-
cumstances.

• The effects of retrospective application are not determinable because the information required 
has	not	been	collected	(or	has	not	been	collected	with	sufficient	granularity)	or	 is	unavailable	
because of system migrations, data retention requirements or other reasons. Such information 
includes for certain contracts:

(a)	 expectations	about	a	contract’s	profitability	and	risks	of	becoming	onerous	required	for	iden-
tifying	groups	of	contracts;
(b)	 information	about	historical	cash	flows	(including	insurance	acquisition	cash	flows	and	other	
cash	flows	incurred	before	the	recognition	of	the	related	contracts	)	and	discount	rates	required	for	
determining	the	estimates	of	cash	flows	on	initial	recognition	and	subsequent	changes	on	a	retrospec-
tive	basis;
(c)	 information	required	to	allocate	fixed	and	variable	overheads	to	groups	of	contracts,	because	
the	Company’s	current	accounting	policies	do	not	require	such	information;	and
(d) information about certain changes in assumptions and estimates, because they were not doc-
umented on an ongoing basis.

• The full retrospective approach requires assumptions about what Company management’s in-
tentions	would	have	been	in	previous	periods	or	significant	accounting	estimates	that	cannot	be	
made without the use of hindsight. Such assumptions and estimates include for certain contracts:

(a) assumptions about discount rates, because the Company was not subject to any accounting 
or regulatory framework that required insurance contracts to be measured on a present value basis 
before	2007;	and
(b)	 assumptions	about	the	risk	adjustment	for	non-financial	risk,	because	the	Company	was		not	
subject	to	any	accounting	or	regulatory	framework	that	required	an	explicit	margin	for	non-financial	
risk before 2016.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

ii.  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Company (continued)

Modified retrospective approach

The	objective	of	the	modified	retrospective	approach	is	to	achieve	the	closest	outcome	to	retrospective	
application possible using reasonable and supportable information available without undue cost or 
effort.	The	Company	will	apply	each	of	the	following	modifications	only	to	the	extent	that	it	does	not	
have reasonable and supportable information to apply IFRS 17 retrospectively.
Fair value approach 

For groups of reinsurance contracts covering onerous underlying contracts, the Company will establish 
a loss-recovery component at 1 January 2023. The Company will determine the loss-recovery compo-
nent with reference to the amount of the loss component that relates to the underlying contracts at 
1 January 2023.

Directors do not plan to apply the above standards, until they become effective. Based on their as-
sessment of the potential impact of application of the above, only IFRS 17 is expected to have a 
significant	impact	on	the	Company’s	financial	statements.	

There are no other standards that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material im-
pact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on near future transactions.
  
(b) Insurance contracts

The	Company	issues	contracts	that	transfer	insurance	risk	or	financial	risk	or	both.	
Insurance	contracts	in	the	company	are	classified	in	accordance	with	the	provisions	of	the	Insurance	
Act.  The business mainly relates to general insurance business.

Classes	of	Short	term	insurance	include	aviation,	engineering	insurance,	fire	insurance	-	domestic	
risks, Fire insurance - industrial and commercial risks, liability insurance, marine insurance, motor in-
surance - private vehicles, motor insurance - commercial vehicles, personal accident insurance, theft 
insurance, workmen’s Compensation and employer’s liability insurance and miscellaneous insurance 
(i.e. class of business not included under those listed above).

Motor insurance business means the business of affecting and carrying out contracts of insurance 
against loss of, or damage to, or arising out of or in connection with the use of, motor vehicles, inclu-
sive of third-party risks but exclusive of transit risks

Personal accident insurance business means the business of affecting and carrying out contracts of 
insurance against risks of the persons insured sustaining injury as the result of an accident or of an 
accident	of	a	specified	class	or	dying	as	the	result	of	an	accident	or	of	an	accident	of	a	specified	class.

Fire insurance business means the business of affecting and carrying out contracts of insurance,  oth-
erwise than incidental to some other class of insurance business against loss or damage to property 
due	to	fire,	explosion,	storm	and	other		occurrences	customarily	included	among	the	risks	insured	
against	in	the	fire	insurance	business.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Revenue recognition
The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable 
that	future	economic	benefits	will	flow	to	the	Company	and	when	specific	criteria	have	been	met	for	
each of the Company’s activities as described below. 

Premium income for general business is recognised on assumption of risks and includes estimates 
of premiums due but not yet received, less unearned premiums. Unearned premiums represent the 
proportion of the premiums written in periods up to the accounting date which relate to the unexpired 
terms of policies in force at the reporting date and are calculated using the 365ths basis. The propor-
tion attributable to subsequent periods is deferred as a provision for unearned premiums. 
Commissions receivable are recognised as income in the period in which they are earned.

Interest	income	for	all	interest-bearing	financial	instruments	is	recognised	using	the	effective	interest	
method. Dividends income from equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) is recognised as income in the period in which the right to receive 
payment is established. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease.
 
(d) Reinsurance
The Company assumes and cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business, with retention limits 
varying by line of business. Premiums on reinsurance assumed are recognised as income in the same 
manner as they would be if the reinsurance were considered direct business. Premiums ceded and 
claims	reimbursed	are	presented	on	a	gross	basis	in	profit	and	loss	and	statement	of	financial	position	
as appropriate.

Reinsurance assets represent balances due from reinsurance companies. Amounts recoverable from 
reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision or settled 
claims associated with the reinsurer’s policies and are in accordance with the related reinsurance 
contract.

Impairment occurs when there is objective evidence as a result of an event that occurred after initial 
recognition of the reinsurance asset that the Company may not receive all outstanding amounts due 
under the terms of the contract and the event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that 
the	Company	will	receive	from	the	reinsurer.	The	impairment	loss	is	recognised	in	the	profit	or	loss.

Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Company from its obligations to policyholders. 
The Company also assumes reinsurance risk in the normal course of business for non-life insurance 
contracts where applicable. Premiums and claims on assumed reinsurance are recognised as revenue 
or expenses in the same manner as they would be if the reinsurance were considered direct business, 
taking	into	account	the	product	classification	of	the	reinsured	business.	Reinsurance	liabilities	repre-
sent balances due to reinsurance companies. Amounts payable are estimated in a manner consistent 
with the related reinsurance contract.

Reinsurance assets or liabilities are derecognised when the contractual rights are extinguished or 
expire or when the contract is transferred to another party.

(e) Insurance receivables
Insurance receivables are recognised when due and measured on initial recognition at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable. Subsequent to initial recognition, insurance receivables 
are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The carrying value of insurance 
receivables is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount	may	not	be	recoverable,	with	the	impairment	loss	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Claims incurred
  
Claims incurred comprise claims paid in the year and changes in the provision for outstanding claims. 
Claims paid represent all payments made during the year, whether arising from events during that 
or earlier years. Outstanding claims provisions represent the estimated ultimate cost of settling all 
claims arising from incidents occurring prior to the reporting date, but not settled at that date. Out-
standing claims provisions are computed on the basis of the best information available at the time the 
records for the year are closed and include provisions for claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) 
at the reporting date based on the Company’s experience but subject to the minimum percentage set 
by the Commissioner of Insurance. Outstanding claims are not discounted.

Delays	can	be	experienced	in	the	notification	and	settlement	of	certain	types	of	claims	and	therefore	
the ultimate cost of this category of claims cannot be known with certainty at the end of each report-
ing period. The liability is calculated at the reporting date using a range of standard actuarial claim 
projection techniques, based on empirical data and current assumptions that may include a margin 
for adverse deviation. The liability is not discounted for the time value of money. No provision for 
equalisation or catastrophe reserves is recognised. The liabilities are derecognised when the contract 
expires, is discharged or is cancelled.

The Company uses the Basic Chain Ladder techniques and the Bornhuetter-Ferguson Method, depen-
dent on the class of business being projected, to estimate the ultimate cost of claims and the IBNR. 
These techniques/methods are used as they are appropriate for mature classes of business that have 
relatively stable development patterns. This involves the analysis of historical claims development 
factors and the selection of estimated development factors based on this historical pattern. The se-
lected development factors are then applied to cumulative claims data for each accident year that is 
not fully developed to produce an estimated claims cost for each year. The development of insurance 
liabilities provides a measure of the group’s ability to estimate the ultimate value of claims. In order 
to compute the Net Incurred But not Reported (IBNR) a reinsurance recovery rate is determined.

The key variable used in determining IBNR and outstanding claim reserves is the value of claims 
where actual claims incurred may differ from historical claims incurred. Outstanding claim reserves 
also include an unallocated loss adjustment expenses reserve. Determination of the level of expenses 
required to pay claims on run-off in the event the business was to be wound up, is an area of profes-
sional judgement.

(g) Commissions payable and deferred acquisition costs

A proportion of commission payable is deferred and amortised over the period in which the related 
premiums are earned.  Deferred acquisition costs represent a proportion of acquisition costs that re-
late to policies that are in force at the year end.

(h) Outstanding claims provision
 
The outstanding claims provision, which is based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred 
but not settled at the reporting date, whether reported or not, together with related claims handling 
costs and reduction for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. Delays can be experienced 
in	the	notification	and	settlement	of	certain	types	of	claims	and	therefore	the	ultimate	cost	of	this	
category of claims cannot be known with certainty at the reporting date. The liability is calculated at 
the reporting date using a range of standard actuarial claim projection techniques, based on empir-
ical data and current assumptions that may include a margin for adverse deviation. The liability is 
not discounted for the time value of money. No provision for equalisation or catastrophe reserves is 
recognised. The liabilities are derecognised when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Unearned premium reserve
The provision for unearned premiums represents premiums received for risks that have not yet ex-
pired. Generally, the reserve is released over the term of the contract at which time it is recognised as 
premium income, and is computed using the 365th method

(j) Salvage and subrogation reimbursements

Some insurance contracts permit the Company to sell (usually damaged) property acquired in settling 
a claim (for example, salvage). The Company may also have the right to pursue third parties for pay-
ment of some or all costs (for example, subrogation).

Estimates of salvage recoveries are included as an allowance in the measurement of the insurance 
liability claims, and salvage property is recognized in other assets when the liability is settled. The 
allowance is the amount that can reasonably be recovered from the disposal of the property.

Subrogation reimbursements are also considered as allowance in the measurement of the insurance 
liability for claims and are recognized in other assets when the liability is settled. The allowance is 
the assessment of the amount that can be recovered from the action against the liable third party.

(k) Investment property 

Investment properties comprise land and buildings and parts of buildings held to earn rentals and/or 
for capital appreciation. They are carried at fair value, determined annually by external independent 
valuers. Fair value is based on open market basis determined using the highest and best use valuation 
model.

Investment properties are not subject to depreciation. Gains and losses arising from changes in the 
fair	value	of	investment	property	are	included	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	in	which	they	arise.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the car-
rying	amount	is	charged	or	credited	to	the	profit	or	loss	for	the	year.
 
(l) Property and equipment
 
(i) Cost model
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated im-
pairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on a reducing balance basis to write down the cost of each asset to its 
residual value over its estimated useful life at the following annual rates:

Partitioning                                   12.5%
Buildings                                              2%
Motor vehicles                           25%
Furniture,	fittings	and	equipment	 	12.5%
Computer hardware                          30%
 
Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying 
amounts
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Property and equipment (continued)
  
(i) Cost model (continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate,	only	when	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	item	will	flow	
to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the re-
placed	part	is	derecognised.	All	other	repairs	and	maintenance	are	charged	to	profit	or	loss	during	the	
financial	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.

(ii) Revaluation model
Buildings are stated at valuation less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses and are revalued annually. Any surplus arising on the revaluation is recognised in other compre-
hensive income and accumulated in the revaluation reserve. Decreases that offset previous increases 
of the same asset are recognised in other comprehensive income and charged against the revaluation 
surplus;	all	other	decreases	are	charged	to	profit	or	loss.	On	subsequent	sale	or	retirement	of	a	reval-
ued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation reserve is transferred 
directly to retained earnings.
 
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other 
comprehensive income and shown as revaluation reserve in equity.  Decreases that offset previous 
increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against the re-
valuation	reserve,	all	other	decreases	are	charged	to	profit	or	loss.		Each	year	the	difference	between	
depreciation	based	on	the	revalued	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	(the	depreciation	charged	to	profit	
or loss) and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from the revaluation reserve 
to retained earnings.

(m) Intangible assets 
  
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic bene-
fits	embodied	in	the	asset	is	accounted	for	by	changing	the	amortisation	period	or	method,	as	appro-
priate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. Amortisation is calculated to
write off the cost of computer software on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life of 3 years. 
The	amortisation	expense	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.
 
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference be-
tween	the	net	disposal	proceeds	and	the	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	and	are	recognised	in	profit	or	
loss when the asset is derecognised.
 
(n) Financial assets
 
(i) Classification 
  
The	Company	has	applied	IFRS	9	and	classifies	 its	financial	assets	 in	the	following	measurement	
categories: 
• Those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income, an
• Those to be measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)
  
(ii) Recognition and derecognition
  
Regular	purchases	and	sales	of	financial	assets	are	recognised	on	the	trade-date,	the	date	on	which	
the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights 
to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	investments	have	expired	or	have	been	transferred	and	the	Company	
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
  
(iii) Measurement

At	initial	recognition,	the	Company	measures	a	financial	asset	at	its	fair	value.	Transaction	costs	of	fi-
nancial	assets	carried	at	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	income	are	expensed	in	profit	or	loss.	
Debt instruments
Debt	instruments	are	those	instruments	that	meet	the	definition	of	a	financial	liability	from	the	issu-
er’s perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds.
Classification	and	subsequent	measurement	of	debt	instruments	depends	on:	
(i)	the	Company’s	business	model	for	managing	the	financial	assets;	and	
(ii)	the	cash	flow	characteristics	of	the	asset.

Based	on	these	factors,	 the	Company	classifies	 its	debt	 instruments	 into	one	of	 the	following	two	
measurement categories:

• Amortised	cost:	Assets	 that	are	held	 for	collection	of	contractual	cash	flows	where	 those	cash	
flows	represent	solely	payments	of	principal	and	interest	are	measured	at	amortised	cost.	Interest	
income	from	these	financial	assets	is	included	in	interest	income	using	the	effective	interest	rate	
method.	Any	gain	or	loss	arising	on	derecognition	is	recognised	directly	in	profit	or	loss	and	pre-
sented in other gains/ (losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses 
are	presented	as	separate	line	item	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.

• FVOCI:	Assets	that	are	held	for	collection	of	contractual	cash	flows	and	for	selling	the	financial	
assets,	 where	 the	 assets’	 cash	 flows	 represent	 solely	 payments	 of	 principal	 and	 interest,	 are	
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive 
income (OCI), except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and for-
eign	exchange	gains	and	losses	which	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	When	the	financial	asset	is	
derecognised,	the	cumulative	gain	or	loss	previously	recognised	in	OCI	is	reclassified	from	equity	
to	profit	or	loss	and	recognised	in	other	gains/	(losses).	Interest	income	from	these	financial	assets	
is	included	in	finance	income	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	Foreign	exchange	gains	
and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are presented as sepa-
rate	line	item	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.

The	Company	 reclassifies	debt	 investments	when	and	only	when	 its	business	model	 for	managing	
those assets changes.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Property and equipment (continued)
  
(n) Financial assets (continued)
 
(iv) Determination of fair value
 
Equity Instruments 
 
The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at FVOCI. There is no subsequent reclas-
sification	of	fair	value	gains	and	losses	to	profit	or	loss	following	the	derecognition	of	the	investment.	
Dividends	from	such	investments	continue	to	be	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	as	other	income	when	the	
Company’s right to receive payments is established.

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Where the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the invest-
ments	revaluation	reserve	is	not	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss,	but	is	reclassified	to	retained	earnings.	
Dividends	earned	are	recognised	in	the	profit	or	loss	statement	and	are	included	in	the	‘investment	
income’ line item.

For	financial	instruments	traded	in	active	markets,	the	determination	of	fair	values	of	financial	as-
sets	and	financial	liabilities	is	based	on	the	price	that	would	be	received	to	sell	an	asset	or	paid	to	
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
This includes listed equity securities and quoted debt instruments on major exchanges (Nairobi Stock 
Exchange).	The	quoted	market	price	used	for	financial	assets	held	by	the	Company	is	the	current	bid	
price.
 
A	financial	instrument	is	regarded	as	quoted	in	an	active	market	if	quoted	prices	are	readily	and	reg-
ularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry, pricing service or regulatory agency, and 
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive. E.g., a market is inactive 
when	there	is	a	wide	bid-offer	spread	or	significant	increase	in	the	bid-offer	spread	or	there	are	few	
recent transactions.
 
Fair values are categorised into three levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which the 
inputs	to	the	measurement	are	observable	and	the	significance	of	the	inputs	to	the	fair	value	mea-
surement in its entirety: 
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active mar-

kets for identical assets or liabilities. 
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 

within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indi-
rectly (i.e. derived from prices).

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs 
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognised by the Company at the end of the 
reporting period during which the change occurred.
 
(v) Impairment
 
The Company assesses impairment on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated 
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied 
depends	on	whether	there	has	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting poli-
cies (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)
  
(ii) Recognition and derecognition

(v) Impairment (continued)

The Company recognises loss allowance at an 
amount equal to either 12-month ECLs or life-
time ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that 
result from all possible default events over the 
expected	 life	of	a	financial	 instrument,	whereas	
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that re-
sult from default events that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date.

The impairment model applies to the following 
financial	 instruments	 that	 are	 not	 measured	 at	
FVTPL or FVOCI:
• Government securities measured at amortised 

cost 
• Receivables arising from direct insurance ar-

rangements
• Rent	receivables;
• Staff	loans;
• Corporate	bonds	at	amortised	cost;	
• Deposits	with	 financial	 institutions	 at	 amor-

tised	cost;	and
• Cash and bank balances.

The Company recognises loss allowances at an 
amount equal to either 12-month ECLs or life-
time ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that 
result from all possible default events over the 
expected	 life	of	a	financial	 instrument,	whereas	
12-month ECLs are the portion that result from 
default events that are possible within the 12 
months after the reporting date.
The Company recognises loss allowances at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except in the fol-
lowing cases, for which the amount recognised 
will be 12-month ECLs:

• Debt instruments that are determined to have 
low credit risk at the reporting date. The Com-
pany will consider a debt instrument to have 
low credit risk when its credit risk rating is 
equivalent	 to	 the	globally	understood	defini-
tion of ‘investment-grade’ and investments in 
government	securities;	and

• Other	financial	instruments	(other	than	trade	
and lease receivables) for which credit risk 
has	 not	 increased	 significantly	 since	 initial	
recognition.

Loss allowances for premium and rent receiv-
ables are measured at an amount equal to life-
time ECLs. The impairment requirements of IFRS 
9 require management judgement, estimates and 
assumptions, particularly in the following areas, 
which are discussed in detail below:

• Assessing whether the credit risk of an instru-
ment	has	increased	significantly	since	initial	
recognition;	and

• Incorporating forward-looking information 
into the measurement of ECLs.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity in-
vestments	and	financial	assets	measured	at	FVT-
PL.
Measurement of expected credit losses
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of cred-
it losses and will be measured as follows:

• Financial assets that are not credit-impaired 
at the reporting date: the present value of all 
cash shortfalls – i.e. the difference between 
the	cash	flows	due	to	the	entity	in	accordance	
with	the	contract	and	the	cash	flows	that	the	
Company	expects	to	receive;

• Financial assets that are credit-impaired at 
the reporting date: the difference between the 
gross carrying amount and the present value 
of	estimated	future	cash	flows;

An asset is credit-impaired if one or more events 
have occurred that have a detrimental impact on 
the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	the	asset.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)
  
(v) Impairment (continued)
  
Expected credit losses
  
Expected credit losses are computed as a product of the Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given De-
fault (LGD) and the Exposure at Default (EAD).

ECL = PD x LGD x EAD

In applying the IFRS 9 impairment requirements, the Company follows one of the approaches below:
• The general approach
• The	simplified	approach
  
The Company applies the approaches below to each of its assets subject to impairment under IFRS 9:
  
Financial asset                                 Impairment approach
 
Government securities        General approach
Receivables	arising	out	of	direct	insurance	arrangements	 	 	 Simplified	approach
Rent and inter-company receivables      General approach
Loans receivable        General approach
Corporate bonds at amortised cost      General approach
Deposits	with	financial	institutions	at	amortised	cost		 	 	 General	approach
Cash and bank balances       General approach

The general approach
Under	the	general	approach,	at	each	reporting	date,	the	Company	determines	whether	the	financial	
asset is in one of three stages in order to determine both the amount of ECL to recognise as well as 
how interest income should be recognised.

• Stage	1	-	where	credit	risk	has	not	increased	significantly	since	initial	recognition.	For	financial	
assets in stage 1, the Company will recognise 12 month ECL and recognise interest income on 
a gross basis – this means that interest will be calculated on the gross carrying amount of the 
financial	asset	before	adjusting	for	ECL.

• Stage	2	-	where	credit	risk	has	increased	significantly	since	initial	recognition.	When	a	financial	
asset transfers to stage 2, the Company will recognise lifetime ECL but interest income will con-
tinue to be recognised on a gross basis.

The general approach
  
• Stage	3	-	where	the	financial	asset	is	credit	impaired.	This	is	effectively	the	point	at	which	there	

has	been	an	incurred	loss	event.		For	financial	assets	in	stage	3,	the	Company	will	continue	to	
recognise lifetime ECL but they will now recognise interest income on a net basis. As such, inter-
est	income	will	be	calculated	based	on	the	gross	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset	less	ECL.	

The	changes	in	the	loss	allowance	balance	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	as	an	impairment	gain	or	
loss.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)
  
(ii) Recognition and derecognition
(v)  Impairment (continued)
The	simplified	approach

Under	 the	simplified	approach,	 the	Company	measures	 the	 loss	allowance	at	an	amount	equal	 to	
lifetime expected credit losses.

Definition	of	default

The	Company	will	consider	a	financial	asset	to	be	in	default	when:

• The counterparty or borrower is unlikely to pay their credit obligations to the Company in full, 
without	recourse	by	the	Company	to	actions	such	as	realising	security	(if	any	is	held);	or

• The counterparty or borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to 
the Company. This will be consistent with the rebuttable criteria set out by IFRS 9 and existing 
practice	of	the	Company;	or

In assessing whether the counterparty or borrower is in default, the Company considers indicators 
that are:

• Qualitative:	e.g.	Breach	of	covenant	and	other	indicators	of	financial	distress;
• Quantitative: e.g. Overdue status and non-payment of another obligation of the same issuer to the 

Company;	and
• Based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources. 

Inputs	into	the	assessment	of	whether	a	financial	instrument	is	in	default	and	their	significance	may	
vary	over	time	to	reflect	changes	in	circumstances.

Significant increase in credit risk (SIICR)

When	determining	whether	the	credit	risk	(i.e.	risk	of	default)	on	a	financial	instrument	has	increased	
significantly	since	initial	recognition,	the	Company	considers	reasonable	and	supportable	information	
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualita-
tive information and analysis based on the Company’s historical experience, expert credit assessment 
and forward-looking information.

The	Company	primarily	 identifies	whether	a	significant	 increase	 in	credit	 risk	has	occurred	 for	an	
exposure by comparing:

• The	remaining	lifetime	probability	of	default	(PD)	as	at	the	reporting	date;	with
• The remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated on initial recognition of the 

exposure.

The	assessment	of	significant	deterioration	is	key	in	establishing	the	point	of	switching	between	the	
requirement to measure an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses and one that is 
based on lifetime expected credit losses.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)
  
(v) Impairment (continued)
  
Significant	increase	in	credit	risk	(SIICR)	–	(continued)

The	Company	monitors	the	effectiveness	of	the	criteria	used	to	identify	significant	increases	in	credit	
risk	by	regular	reviews	to	confirm	that:

• The	criteria	are	capable	of	identifying	significant	increases	in	credit	risk	before	an	exposure	is	in	
default;

• The	criteria	do	not	align	with	the	point	in	time	when	an	asset	becomes	30	days	past	due;
• The	average	time	between	the	identification	of	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	and	default	

appears	reasonable;
• Exposures	are	not	generally	transferred	from	12-month	ECL	measurement	to	credit-impaired;	and
• There is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month and lifetime 

ECL measurements.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Company incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit 
risk	of	an	instrument	has	increased	significantly	since	initial	recognition	and	its	measurement	of	ECL.	
It formulates a ‘base case’ view of the future direction of relevant economic variables and a repre-
sentative range of other possible forecast scenarios based on a variety of external actual and forecast 
information. External information includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental 
bodies and monetary authorities.

The base case represents a best estimate and is aligned with information used by the Company for 
other purposes, such as strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent more opti-
mistic and more pessimistic outcomes. The Company also periodically carries out stress-testing of 
more extreme shocks to calibrate its determination of these other representative scenarios.

Measurement of ECL

The	key	inputs	into	the	measurement	of	ECL	are	the	term	structures	of	the	following	variables;

(i) Probability of Default; (ii) Loss given default (LGD); and (iii) Exposure at default (EAD).

To determine lifetime and 12-month PDs, the Company uses internally developed PD tables based on 
the default history of obligors with the same credit rating. The Company adopts the same approach 
for unrated investments by mapping its internal risk grades to the equivalent external credit ratings 
(see	(i)).The	PDs	are	recalibrated	based	on	current	bond	yields	and	CDS	prices,	and	adjusted	to	reflect	
forward-looking information as described above. Changes in the rating for a counterparty or exposure 
lead to a change in the estimate of the associated PD.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Company estimates LGD parameters 
based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models 
consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of 
any	collateral	that	is	integral	to	the	financial	asset.	For	loans	secured	by	retail	property,	loan-to-¬value	
ratios are a key parameter in determining LGD. LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic 
scenarios.	They	are	calculated	on	a	discounted	cash	flow	basis	using	the	effective	interest	rate	as	the	
discounting factor.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)
  
(v) Impairment (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Company derives the EAD from 
the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under 
the	contract,	including	amortisation,	and	prepayments.	The	EAD	of	a	financial	asset	is	its	gross	car-
rying amount.

As	described	above,	and	subject	to	using	a	maximum	of	a	12-month	PD	for	financial	assets	for	which	
credit	risk	has	not	significantly	increased,	the	Company	measures	ECL	considering	the	risk	of	default	
over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s extension options) over which it is 
exposed to credit risk, even if, for risk management purposes, the Company considers a longer period. 
Where	modelling	of	a	parameter	is	carried	out	on	a	collective	basis,	the	financial	instruments	are	clas-
sified	on	the	basis	of	shared	risk	characteristics,	which	include:	instrument	type;	credit	risk	grading;	
collateral	type;	date	of	initial	recognition;	remaining	term	to	maturity;	industry;	and	geographic	loca-
tion	of	the	borrower.	The	classifications	are	subject	to	regular	review	to	ensure	that	exposures	within	
a particular Company remain appropriately homogeneous.

When	ECL	are	measured	using	parameters	based	on	collective	modelling,	a	significant	input	into	the	
measurement of ECL is the external benchmark information that the Company uses to derive the de-
fault rates of its portfolios. This includes the PDs provided by rating agencies.

Insurance receivables

The ECL of operating insurance receivables are determined at using a provision matrix. Loss rates are 
calculated with reference to days past due and actual credit loss experience over the past few years 
and incorporation of forward looking information. 

(vi) Modification of contracts

The	Company	rarely	renegotiates	or	otherwise	modifies	the	contractual	cash	flows	of	securities.	When	
this happens, the Company assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the 
original terms. The Company does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

• If	the	counterparty	is	in	financial	difficulty;
• Whether	any	substantial	new	terms	are	introduced	that	affect	the	risk	profile	of	the	instrument;
• Significant	extension	of	the	contract	term	when	the	borrower	is	not	in	financial	difficulty;
• Significant	change	in	interest	rate;
• Change	in	the	currency	the	security	is	denominated	in;	or
• Inclusion	of	collateral,	other	security	or	credit	enhancements	that	significantly	affect	the	credit	

risk associated with the loan.

If	 the	terms	are	substantially	different,	 the	Company	derecognises	the	original	financial	asset	and	
recognises a ‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of renegoti-
ation is consequently considered the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, 
including the purpose of determining whether a SIICR has occurred.



52

NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)
  
(vi) Modification of contracts (continued)
 
The	Company	may	write-off	financial	assets	that	are	still	subject	to	enforcement	activity.	The	out-
standing contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2022 
was Nil (2021 – Nil). The Company still seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which 
have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation of full recovery.
 
The	Company	writes	off	financial	assets,	in	whole	or	in	part	when	it	has	exhausted	all	practical	re-
covery effort and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that 
there	is	no	reasonable	expectation	of	recovery	include	(i)	ceasing	enforcement	activity;	and	(ii)	the	
Company is foreclosing on collateral and the value of the collateral is such as there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering in full.
 
(o) Financial liabilities
 
The	Company	classifies	its	financial	liabilities	as	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost.	Amounts	
due	to	related	parties	and	other	payables	are	classified	at	amortised	cost.
 
(p) Offsetting
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet only when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
(q)  Foreign currency translation
 
(i) Functional and presentation currency
 
Items	included	in	the	financial	statements	of	each	of	the	Company	are	measured	using	the	currency	
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the Functional Currency’). The 
financial	statements	are	presented	in	currency’	Kenya	Shillings’	which	is	the	Company’s	functional	
and presentation currency.
 
(ii) Transactions and balances
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Functional Currency of the respective entity us-
ing the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income.
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are pre-
sented	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income	within	‘finance	income	or	cost’.	All	other	foreign	
exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within ‘other 
income’.
 
(r) Cash and cash equivalents
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities 
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2. Summary of significant accounting poli-
cies (continued)

(s) Share capital
  
Ordinary	 shares	 are	 classified	 as	 ‘share	 capital’	
in equity. Any premium received over and above 
the	par	value	of	the	shares	is	classified	as	‘share	
premium’ in equity.  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the is-
sue of new ordinary shares are shown in equity as 
deduction from the proceeds.

(t) Dividends
  
Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equi-
ty in the period in which they are declared.  Pro-
posed dividends are shown as a separate compo-
nent of equity until declared.
 
(u) Income tax expense
  
Income tax expense is the aggregate amount 
charged/(credited) in respect of current tax and 
deferred	tax	in	determining	the	profit	or	loss	for	
the	year.	Tax	is	recognised	in	the	profit	or	loss	ex-
cept when it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income, in which case it is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income, or to 
items recognised directly in equity, in which case 
it is also recognised directly in equity.

(i) Current income tax
  
Current income tax is the amount of income tax 
payable	 on	 the	 taxable	 profit	 for	 the	 year,	 and	
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of prior 
years, determined in accordance with the Kenyan 
Income Tax Act. The current income tax charge 
is calculated on the basis of the tax enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.  The 
Directors periodically evaluate positions taken in 
tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpreta-
tion. It establishes provisions where appropriate 
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to 
the tax authorities.
  
(ii) Deferred income tax
  
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the li-
ability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 

and	their	carrying	amounts	in	the	financial	state-
ments. However, deferred income tax is not ac-
counted for if it arises from initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects either accounting nor taxable 
profit	or	loss.	Deferred	income	tax	is	determined	
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or the deferred in-
come tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits	will	be	available	against	which	the	tempo-
rary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are off-
set when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets against current tax lia-
bilities and when the deferred income taxes as-
sets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where 
there is an intention to settle the balances on a 
net basis.
  
(v) Employee benefits
  
Retirement benefit obligations
  
The	 Company	 operates	 a	 defined	 contribution	
scheme for its employees. The assets of the 
scheme are held in a separate trustee adminis-
tered fund. The scheme is funded by contribu-
tions from both the employees and the employ-
er, with the employer contributing 5% while the 
employee contribution is voluntary. The Company 
also	contributes	to	the	statutory	defined	contribu-
tion pension scheme, the National Social Securi-
ty Fund (NSSF). Contributions to these schemes 
are determined by local statute and are currently 
limited to Shs 200 per employee per month.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Financial assets (continued)
  
(w) Leases
 
Leases under which the Company is the lessee
  
On the commencement date of each lease (ex-
cluding leases with a term, on commencement, 
of 12 months or less and leases for which the un-
derlying asset is of low value) the Company rec-
ognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

The lease liability is measured at the present val-
ue of the lease payments that are not paid on 
that	date.	The	lease	payments	include	fixed	pay-
ments, variable payments that depend on an in-
dex or a rate, amounts expected to be payable 
under residual value guarantees, and the exercise 
price of a purchase option if the Company is rea-
sonably certain to exercise that option. The lease 
payments are discounted at the interest rate im-
plicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Company’s incremental borrow-
ing rate is used.

For leases that contain non-lease components, 
the Company allocates the consideration payable 
to the lease and non-lease components based on 
their relative stand-alone components. 

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost 
comprising the initial measurement of the lease 
liability, any lease payments made on or before 
the commencement date, any initial direct costs 
incurred, and an estimate of the costs of restor-
ing the underlying asset to the condition required 
under the terms of the lease.

Subsequently the lease liability is measured at 
amortised cost, subject to remeasurement to re-
flect	 any	 reassessment,	 lease	 modifications,	 or	
revised	fixed	lease	payments.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to write down the cost of each asset to 
its residual value over its estimated useful life. If 
ownership of the underlying asset is not expected 
to pass to the Company at the end of the lease 
term, the estimated useful life would not exceed 
the lease term.

For leases with a term, on commencement, of 12 
months or less and leases for which the underly-
ing asset is of low value, the total lease payments 
are	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	on	a	straight-line	
basis over the lease period.
  
Leases where the Company assumes substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
were	 classified	 as	 finance	 leases.	 Finance	 leas-
es are recognised as a liability at the inception 
of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased assets and the present value of the min-
imum lease payments. The interest rate implicit 
in the lease is used as the discount factor in de-
termining the present value. Each lease payment 
is	allocated	between	the	liability	and	finance	cost	
using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The 
finance	cost	is	charged	to	the	profit	and	loss	ac-
count in the year in which it is incurred. Property 
and	equipment	acquired	under	finance	leases	are	
capitalised and depreciated over the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

Leases	of	assets	where	a	significant	proportion	of	
the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by 
the	lessor	are	classified	as	operating	leases.	Pay-
ments made under operating leases are charged 
to	 the	profit	and	 loss	account	on	a	straight-line	
basis over the lease period. Prepaid operating 
lease rentals are recognised as assets and are 
subsequently amortised over the lease period.
 
Measurement of lease liabilities
 
Lease liability were measured at the liability ac-
cruing from over the lease period adjusted for by 
the amount of payments and the interest on the 
liability discounted at the rate of 13%.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting poli-
cies (continued)

(w) Leases (continued)
  
Measurement of right of use assets 

Right-of use assets were measured at the amount 
equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount 
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating 
to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as 
at 31 December 2022.

The Company’s leasing activities and how these 
are accounted for

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis 
and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose 
any covenants other than the security interests 
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. 
Leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are ini-
tially measured on a present value basis. Lease 
liabilities include the net present value of the fol-
lowing lease payments:

• Fixed	payments	(including	in-substance	fixed	
payments), less any lease incentives receiv-
able

• The exercise price of a purchase option if the 
Company is reasonably certain to exercise 
that option, and

• Payments of penalties for terminating the 
lease,	if	the	lease	term	reflects	the	Company	
exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably 
certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the in-
terest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate can-
not be readily determined, which is generally the 
case for leases in the Company, the lessee’s in-
cremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate 
that the individual lessee would have to pay to 
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment with similar terms, securi-
ty and conditions

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the 
Company:
• Where	 possible,	 uses	 recent	 third-party	 fi-

nancing received by the individual lessee as a 
starting	point,	adjusted	to	reflect	changes	in	
financing	conditions	since	third	party	financ-
ing was received

• Uses a build-up approach that starts with a 
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk 
for leases held by the Company, which does 
not	have	recent	third-party	financing,	and

• Makes	adjustments	specific	 to	 the	 lease,	eg	
term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal 
and	finance	cost.	The	finance	cost	is	charged	to	
profit	or	 loss	over	the	lease	period	so	as	to	pro-
duce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost com-
prising the following:

• The amount of the initial measurement of 
lease liability

• Any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incen-
tives received

• Any initial direct costs, and
• Restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease 
term on a straight-line basis. If the Company is 
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, 
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the un-
derlying asset’s useful life. 
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(w) Leases (continued)
 
The Company’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for (continued)
 
Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value 
assets	are	recognised	on	a	straight-line	basis	as	an	expense	in	profit	or	loss.	Short-term	leases	are	
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
 
(x) Impairment on non-financial assets
 
	 Non-financial	assets	are	tested	for	impairment	whenever	events	or	changes	in	circumstances	
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are	separately	identifiable	cash	inflows	which	are	largely	independent	of	the	cash	inflows	from	other	
assets	or	groups	of	assets	(cash-generating	units).	Non-financial	assets	that	suffered	an	impairment	
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.
  
(y) Associates
  
Associates	are	all	entities	over	which	the	Company	has	significant	influence	but	not	control	or	joint	
control.

The Company holds 40% of the voting rights in the Associate Companies.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting after initially be-
ing recognised at cost.
  
(z) Joint arrangements
  
Under	IFRS	11	Joint	Arrangements	investments	in	joint	arrangements	are	classified	as	either	joint	
operations	or	joint	ventures.	The	classification	depends	on	the	contractual	rights	and	obligations	of	
each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. The Company has investments 
in joint operations. The Company recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses of joint operations and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses. 
 
3 Critical accounting estimates and judgement
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including experience of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circum-
stances.
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates	will,	by	definition,	seldom	equal	the	related	actual	results.	The	estimates	and	assumptions	
that	have	a	significant	risk	of	causing	a	material	adjustment	to	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	
liabilities	within	the	next	financial	year	are	addressed	below.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
3. Critical accounting estimates and judgement (continued)

The ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts
  
Estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of claims reported at the reporting 
date and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not yet reported at the statement of 
financial	position	date	(IBNR).	It	can	take	a	significant	period	of	time	before	the	ultimate	claims	cost	
can be established with certainty.
All	contracts	are	subject	to	a	liability	adequacy	test,	which	reflects	management’s	best	current	esti-
mate	of	future	cash	flows.	The	ultimate	cost	of	outstanding	claims	is	estimated	by	using	a	range	of	
standard actuarial claims projection techniques.
The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a Company’s past claims development ex-
perience can be used to project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. As such, 
these methods extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses, based on the observed devel-
opment of earlier years and expected loss ratios. Historical claims development is mainly analysed by 
accident	years,	as	well	as	by	significant	business	lines.	Large	claims	are	usually	separately	addressed,	
either by being reserved at the face value of loss adjuster estimates or separately projected in order 
to	reflect	their	future	development.	In	most	cases,	no	explicit	assumptions	are	made	regarding	future	
rates	of	claims	inflation	or	loss	ratios.	Instead,	the	assumptions	used	are	those	implicit	in	the	histor-
ical claims development data on which the projections are based. 
Additional qualitative judgment is used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in fu-
ture,	(for	example	to	reflect	one-off	occurrences,	changes	in	external	or	market	factors	such	as	public	
attitudes	to	claiming,	economic	conditions,	levels	of	claims	inflation,	judicial	decisions	and	legisla-
tion, as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy features and claims handling procedures) 
in order to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that present the likely outcome from the 
range of possible outcomes, taking account of all the uncertainties involved.
 
Fair value of financial instruments

The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	where	no	active	market	exists	or	where	quoted	prices	are	not	
otherwise available are determined by using valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair values are 
estimated	from	observable	data	in	respect	of	similar	financial	instruments	or	using	models.	Where	
market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions. 
Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair values, they are vali-
dated	and	periodically	reviewed	by	qualified	personnel	independent	of	those	that	sourced	them.	All	
models	are	certified	before	they	are	used,	and	models	are	calibrated	to	ensure	that	outputs	reflect	
actual	data	and	comparative	market	prices.	To	the	extent	practical,	models	use	only	observable	data;	
however, areas such as credit risk (both own credit risk and counterparty risk), volatilities and correla-
tions require management to make estimates.
 
4 Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
4.1 Insurance risk
 
The	Company’s	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	insurance	and	financial	risks.	Financial	risks	include	
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk which includes the effects of changes in property values, 
debt and equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

Financial	risk	management	is	carried	out	by	the	finance	department	under	policies	approved	by	the	
Board of Directors. The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as writ-
ten	policies	covering	specific	areas	such	as	foreign	exchange	risk,	interest	rate	risk,	credit	risk	and	
investment of excess liquidity.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.1 Insurance risk (continued)
 
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the 
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk 
is random and therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and pro-
visioning, the principal risk that the Company faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual 
claims	and	benefit	payments	exceed	the	carrying	amount	of	the	insurance	liabilities.	This	could	occur	
because	the	frequency	or	severity	of	claims	and	benefits	are	greater	than	estimated.	Insurance	events	
are	random,	and	the	actual	number	and	amount	of	claims	and	benefits	will	vary	from	year	to	year	from	
the level established using statistical techniques.

Factors	that	aggravate	insurance	risk	include	lack	of	risk	diversification	in	terms	of	type	and	amount	
of risk, geographical location and type of industry covered.
 
Insurance risk in the Company arises from;

(a) Fluctuations in the timing, frequency and severity of claims and claims settlements relative to 
expectations;
(b)	 Unexpected	claims	arising	from	a	single	source;
(c)	 Inaccurate	pricing	of	risks	or	inappropriate	underwriting	of	risks	when	underwritten;
(d)	 Inadequate	reinsurance	protection	or	other	risk	transfer	techniques;	and	
(e) Inadequate reserves

(a),	(b)	and	(c)	can	be	classified	as	the	core	insurance	risk,	(d)	relates	to	reinsurance	planning,	while	
(e) is about reserving.

Core insurance risk

This risk is managed through:

• Diversification	across	a	large	portfolio	of	insurance	contracts;
• Careful	selection	guided	by	a	conservative	underwriting	philosophy;
• Continuous monitoring of the business performance per class and per client and corrective action 

taken	as	deemed	appropriate;
• A minimum of one review of each policy at renewal to determine whether the risk remains within 

the	acceptable	criteria;
• Having a business acceptance criteria which is reviewed from time to time based on the experi-

ence	and	other	developments;	and
• Having a mechanism of identifying, quantifying and accumulating exposures to contain them 

within the set underwriting limits.
 
Reinsurance planning

Reinsurance	purchases	are	reviewed	annually	to	verify	that	the	levels	of	protection	being	sought	reflect	
developments in exposure and risk appetite of the Company. The bases of these purchases is under-
pinned	by	the	Company’s	experience,	financial	modelling	by	and	exposure	of	the	reinsurance	broker.	
Reinsurance is placed with providers who meet the Company’s counter-party security requirements.
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.1 Insurance risk (continued)
  
Reinsurance planning (continued)

Reinsurance	purchases	are	reviewed	annually	to	verify	that	the	levels	of	protection	being	sought	reflect	
developments in exposure and risk appetite of the Company. The bases of these purchases is under-
pinned	by	the	Company’s	experience,	financial	modelling	by	and	exposure	of	the	reinsurance	broker.	
Reinsurance is placed with providers who meet the Company’s counter-party security requirements.

Claims reserving

The Company’s reserving policy is guided by the prudence concept. Estimates are made of the esti-
mated cost of settling a claim based on the best available information upon registration of a claim, 
and this is updated as and when additional information is obtained and annual reviews done to ensure 
that the reserves are adequate. Management is regularly provided with claims settlement reports to 
inform on the reserving performance.

The table below sets out the concentration of insurance liabilities by the class of business represented 
by the maximum insured loss (gross and net of reinsurance) arising from insurance contracts.

Year ended 31 December 
2022 Below 100M 100M - 250M Over 250M Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Fire Gross 103,393,081 88,493,704 1,258,898,509 1,450,785,294 

Net 21,868,463 18,717,126 266,267,096 306,852,684 

Motor Gross 30,468,951 3,698,620 5,377,261 39,544,832 

Net 29,767,360 3,613,454 5,253,442 38,634,255 

Workmen’s compensation Gross 38,903,311 14,533,313  21,465,231 74,901,855 

Net 38,512,841 14,387,443 21,249,786 74,150,071 

Engineering Gross 28,514,919 24,637,832 320,589,240 373,741,991 

Net 10,080,875 8,710,209 113,337,865 132,128,949 

Marine Gross 221,993,332 -   -   221,993,332 

Net 143,512,063 -   -   143,512,063 

Theft Gross 28,675,729 14,881,138 19,330,357 62,887,224 

Net 8,019,292 4,161,575 5,405,818 17,586,684 

Miscellaneous Gross 12,656,928 5,567,411 10,892,822 29,117,161 

Net 5,154,438 2,267,286 4,436,020 11,857,744 

Liability Gross 19,482,396 8,889,918 49,061,997 77,434,311 

Net 10,809,712      4,932,528 27,221,810 42,964,050 

Personal accident Gross 9,405,185 1,180,903 6,056,834 16,642,922 

Net 5,712,293 717,228 3,678,653 10,108,174 

Aviation Gross 110,220,185 -    -   110,220,185 

Net 698,382 -    -   698,382 

Gross 603,714,017 161,882,839 1,691,672,251 2,457,269,107

Net 274,135,719 57,506,849 446,850,490 778,493,058
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.1 Insurance risk (continued)
 
Claims reserving (continued)

Year ended

31 December 2021 Below 100M 100M - 250M Over 250M Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Fire
Gross

 77,399,252  66,245,695  942,401,583  1,086,046,530 

Net
 13,412,323  11,479,551  163,306,420  188,198,295 

Motor
Gross

 24,647,426  2,991,946  4,349,859  31,989,231 

Net
 23,596,498  2,864,374  4,164,388  30,625,260 

Workmen’s compensation
Gross

 28,557,487  10,668,369  15,756,835  54,982,691 

Net
 27,043,664  10,102,843  14,921,571  52,068,078 

Engineering
Gross

 18,835,958  16,274,890  211,770,040  246,880,888 

Net
 3,878,216  3,350,907  43,602,237  50,831,359 

Marine
Gross

 274,884,923  -    -    274,884,923 

Net
 183,383,223  -    -    183,383,223 

Theft
Gross

 23,379,144  12,132,499  15,759,920  51,271,563 

Net
 6,251,076  3,243,967  4,213,861  13,708,905 

Miscellaneous
Gross

 10,063,908  4,426,818  8,661,214  23,151,939 

Net
 2,093,845  921,021  1,802,007  4,816,873 

Liability
Gross

 14,187,447  6,473,805  35,727,869  56,389,121 

Net
 8,807,324  4,018,828  22,179,250  35,005,402 

Personal accident
Gross

 5,174,336  649,683  3,332,214  9,156,233 

Net
 2,962,101  371,918  1,907,560  5,241,579 

Aviation
Gross

 106,754,619  -    -    106,754,619 

Net
 89,632  -    -    89,632 

Gross 583,884,500 119,863,705 1,237,759,534 1,941,507,738

Net 271,517,902 36,353,409 256,097,294 563,968,606
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.2 Financial risk
  
The	Company	 is	exposed	 to	financial	 risk	 through	 its	financial	assets,	financial	 liabilities,	 reinsur-
ance	assets	and	insurance	liabilities.	In	particular	the	key	financial	risk	is	that	the	proceeds	from	its	
financial	assets	are	not	sufficient	to	fund	the	obligations	arising	from	its	insurance	and	investment	
contracts.	The	most	important	components	of	this	financial	risk	are	interest	rate	risk,	equity	price	
risk, currency risk and credit risk. These risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and 
equity	products,	all	of	which	are	exposed	to	general	and	specific	market	movements.	The	risks	that	
the Company primarily faces due to the nature of its investments and liabilities are interest rate risk 
and equity price risk. Appraisal of investment portfolio is done on a regular basis and the investment 
spread reviewed depending on the existing interest rates

(a)  Market risk

Market	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	
because of changes in market prices and comprises of three types of risk: interest rate risks, equity 
price risk and foreign exchange currency risk. The sensitivity analysis below is based on a change in 
one assumption while holding all other assumptions constant:

(i) Interest rate risk

The	Company	is	exposed	to	the	risk	that	the	level	of	interest	income	and	in	effect	the	cash	flows	will	
fluctuate	due	to	changes	in	market	interest	rates.	To	manage	this	risk,	the	Company	ensures	that	the	
investment	maturity	profiles	are	well	spread.

The	sensitivity	analysis	presented	below	shows	how	profit	and	equity	would	change	if	the	interest	rates	
had increased/(decreased) on the reporting date with all other variables held constant.

(ii)  Equity price risk

Equity	price	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	of	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluc-
tuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 
risk),	whether	those	changes	are	caused	by	factors	specific	to	the	individual	financial	instrument	or	
its	issuer,	or	factors	affecting	all	similar	financial	instruments	traded	in	the	market.

The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk as a result of its holdings in equity investments 
which are listed and traded on the Nairobi Securities Exchange. Exposure to equity price risks in 
aggregate is monitored in order to ensure compliance with the relevant regulatory limits for solvency 
purposes.

2022 2021

Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000

Effect 
on profit

Effect on 
equity

Effect 
on	profit

Effect 
on equity

+5 percentage point movement        5,829 4,080 5,636 3,945

- 5 percentage point movement (5,829) (4,080) (5,636) (3,945)
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.2 Insurance risk (continued)
 
(ii)  Equity price risk (continued)

The	Company	has	a	defined	investment	policy	which	sets	limits	on	the	company’s	exposure	to	equity	
securities	both	in	aggregate	terms	and	by	category/share.	This	policy	of	diversification	is	used	to	man-
age the Company’s price risk arising from its investments in equity securities.

Changes in the price of equities would have the following impact on the other comprehensive income 
with all other variables held constant:

(iii)  Foreign exchange currency risk

Foreign	exchange	currency	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	of	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instru-
ment	will	fluctuate	because	of	changes	in	foreign	exchange	rates.	Management	believes	that	there	is	
minimal	risk	of	significant	losses	due	to	exchange	rate	fluctuations.

The	following	sensitivity	analysis	shows	how	profit	and	other	comprehensive	income	would	change	if	
the exchange rates changed at the reporting date with all other variables held constant, mainly as a 
result of translation of US Dollar denominated equity investments and cash balances.

(b) Credit risk 
 
Credit	risk	is	the	risk	that	one	party	to	a	financial	instrument	will	cause	a	financial	loss	to	the	Company	
by failing to discharge a contractual obligation. The following policies and procedures are in place to 
mitigate the Company’s exposure to credit risk: 

• Net exposure limits are set for each counterparty or group of counterparties i.e. limits are set for 
investments and cash deposits, and minimum credit ratings for investments that may be held.

• Reinsurance is placed with counterparties that have a good credit rating.
• Ongoing monitoring by the management credit committee.
The exposure to individual counterparties is also managed through other mechanisms, such as the 
right of offset where counterparties are both debtors and creditors of the Company. Management 
information reported to the Directors include details of provisions for impairment on receivables and 
subsequent write offs. 

Exposures to individual policyholders and groups of policyholders are collected within the ongoing 
monitoring of the controls associated with regulatory solvency.

NOTES (CONTINUED)

Gross portfolio % change in price Impact to OCI

Shs’000 Shs’000

31 December 2022 253,316 +/- 5% 12,666

31 December 2021 373,844 +/- 5% 18,692

Gross 
portfolio % change in price Impact to OCI

Shs’000 Shs’000

31 December 2022 302,491 +/- 5% 15,125

31 December 2021 307,937 +/- 5% 15,397
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.2 Financial risk
  
(b) Credit risk (continued)
  
The table below shows the carrying amounts of financial assets bearing credit risk

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held    

No collateral is held for the above amounts.

Management of credit risk

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to the Compa-
ny’s management through the Managing Director.

The	Company	has	no	significant	concentrations	of	credit	risk.	The	Company	structures	the	levels	of	
credit risk it accepts by placing limits on its exposure to a single counterparty, or groups of coun-
terparties. Such risks are subject to an annual or more frequent review. Limits on the level of credit 
risk by category and territory are approved periodically by the Board Investment Committee (BIC) and 
ratified	quarterly	by	the	Board	of	Directors.

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Company’s lia-
bility as primary insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Company remains liable 
for the payment to the policyholder. The creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an annual 
basis	by	reviewing	their	financial	strength	prior	to	finalisation	of	any	contract.	

The exposure to individual counterparties is also managed by other mechanisms, such as the right 
of offset where counterparties are both debtors and creditors of the Company. Management informa-
tion reported to the Company includes details of provisions for impairment on loans and receivables 
and subsequent write-offs. BIC makes regular reviews to assess the degree of compliance with the 
Company procedures on credit. Exposures to individual policyholders and groups of policyholders are 
collected within the ongoing monitoring of the controls associated with regulatory solvency. Where 
there	exists	significant	exposure	to	individual	policyholders,	or	homogenous	groups	of	policyholders,	
a	financial	analysis	equivalent	to	that	conducted	for	reinsurers	is	carried	out	by	the	Management	of	
the Company.

The	credit	quality	of	financial	assets	that	are	neither	past	due	nor	impaired	can	be	assessed	by	refer-
ence to external credit ratings if available or historical information about counterparty default rates.

              2022            2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Other receivables 299,340 44,696

Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements 621,903 695,553

Receivables arising out of reinsurance arrangements 125,735 155,313

Government securities at amortised cost 3,725,790 2,969,675

Corporate bonds at amortised cost 29,556 29,556

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 1,131,386 910,962

Bank balances 319,350 264,097

6,253,060 5,069,852
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

NOTES (CONTINUED)

4.2 Insurance risk (continued)
 
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Management of credit risk (continued)

Owing to the fact that there is no readily available credit rating information, the Company assesses the 
credit	quality	of	the	institution,	taking	into	account	its	financial	position,	pas	experience	and	other	
factors.

The table below provides the information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Company.

31 December 2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Receivable arising out of direct insurance 
arrangements 621,903 - 26,120 648,023

Receivable arising out of reinsurance 

arrangements 125,735 - - 125,735

Government securities 3,725,790 - 5,295 3,731,085

Corporate bonds 29,556 - 6 29,562

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 1,131,386 - 580 1,131,966

Other receivables 299,340 - - 299,340

Cash and bank balances 319,350 - - 319,350

6,253,060 - 32,001 6,285,061

31 December 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Receivable arising out of direct insurance 
arrangements 695,553 - 24,565 720,118

Receivable arising out of reinsurance 

arrangements 155,313 - - 155,313

Government securities 2,969,675 - 2,974 2,972,649

Corporate bonds 29,556 - 6 29,562

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 910,962 - 784 911,746

Other receivables 44,696 - - 44,696

Cash and bank balances 264,097 - - 264,097

5,069,852 - 28,329 5,069,852
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.2 Financial risk (continued)
  
(b) Credit risk (continued)

31 December 2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Receivable arising out of direct 
insurance arrangements Gross 648,023 - - 648,023

ECL (    26,120) - ( 26,120)

Net 621,903 - - 621,903

Receivable arising out of rein-
surance arrangements Gross 125,735 - - 125,735

ECL - - - -

Net 125,735 - - 125,735

Government securities Gross 3,731,085 - - 3,731,085

ECL (      5,295) - - (      5,295)

Net 3,725,790 - - 3,725,790

Corporate Bonds Gross 29,562 - - 29,562

ECL (             6) - - (             6)

Net 29,556 - - 29,556

Deposits	with	financial	institu-
tions Gross 1,131,966 - - 1,131,966

ECL (         580) - - (         580)

Net 1,131,386 - - 1,131,386

Staff loans Gross 18,803 - - 18,803

ECL - - - -

Net 18,803 - 18,803

Rent	&	other	receivables Gross 33,790 - - 33,790

ECL - - - -

Net 33,790 - 33,790

Cash and bank balances Gross 319,350 - - 319,350

ECL - - - -

Net 319,350 - 319,350
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

NOTES (CONTINUED)

4.2 Insurance risk (continued)
 
(b) Credit risk (continued)

31 December 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Receivable arising out of direct 
insurance arrangements Gross 720,119 - - 720,119

ECL (    24,566) - - (    24,566)

Net 695,553 - - 695,553

Receivable arising out of rein-
surance arrangements Gross 155,313 - - 155,313

ECL - - - -

Net 155,313 - - 155,313

Government securities Gross 2,972,649 - - 2,972,649

ECL (       2,974) - - (       2,974)

Net 2,969,675 - - 2,969,675

Corporate Bonds Gross 29,562 - - 29,562

ECL (             6) - - (             6)

Net 29,556 - - 29,556

Deposits	with	financial	institu-
tions Gross 910,516 - - 910,516

ECL 446 - - 446

Net 910,962 - - 910,962

Staff loans Gross 17,164 - - 17,164

ECL - - -

Net 17,164 - - 17,164

Rent	&	other	receivables Gross 27,532 - - 27,532

ECL - - - -

Net 27,532 - - 27,532

Cash and bank balances Gross 37,601 - - 37,601

ECL - - - -

Net 37,601 - - 37,601
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

NOTES (CONTINUED)

4.2 Insurance risk (continued)
 
(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due at a reasonable 
cost. The primary liquidity risk of the Company is the obligation to pay claims to policyholders as they 
fall due.  The projected settlement of these liabilities is modelled, on a regular basis, using actuarial 
techniques. 

The	only	 short-term	financial	 liabilities	 relates	 to	other	payables	and	 lease	 liabilities	 that	are	due	
within 12 months from the reporting date.

4.3 Capital management
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the 
financial	position	are	to:

• to	allocate	capital	efficiently	to	support	growth;
• to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to pro-

vide	returns	for	shareholders	and	benefits	for	other	stakeholders;
• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing insurance contracts commensurately with 

the	level	of	risk;
• to	comply	with	the	capital	requirements	as	set	out	in	the	Insurance	Act;	and
• to comply with the regulatory solvency requirements as set out in the Insurance Act.

At 31 December 2022

Less than 12 
months

Over

 12 months Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Payables arising from   

- reinsurance arrangements 380,112 - 380,112

- insurance arrangements 47,853 - 47,853

Insurance contract liabilities 4,373,484 - 4,373,484

Lease liability 5,906 6,418 12,324

Other payables 215,370 - 215,370

5,022,725 6,418 5,029,143

At 31 December 2021

Less than 12 
months

Over

 12 months Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Payables arising from   

- reinsurance arrangements 591,732 - 591,732

- insurance arrangements 98,795 - 98,795

Insurance contract liabilities 2,808,190 - 2,808,190

Lease liability 5,450 5,835 11,285

Other payables 199,096 - 199,096

3,703,263 5,835 3,709,098
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.3 Capital management (continued)

An important aspect of the Company’s overall capital management process is the setting of target 
risk-adjusted rate of return which is aligned to performance objectives and ensures that the Company 
is focused on the creation of value for shareholders.

The Company has a number of sources of capital available to it and seeks to optimise its debt to equity 
structure in order to ensure that it can consistently maximise returns to shareholders.  The Company 
considers not only the traditional sources of capital funding but the alternative sources of capital 
including reinsurance, as appropriate, when assessing its deployment and usage of capital.  The 
Company manages as capital all items that are eligible to be treated as capital for regulatory purposes.

Externally imposed capital requirements

The Insurance Act in Kenya requires a general insurance Company to hold the minimum level paid 
up capital as the higher of:

• Shs 600 million
• Risk based capital determined from time to time, or
• 20%	of	the	net	earned	premiums	of	the	preceding	financial	year.

During the year the Company met requirements for the minimum paid up capital for an insurance 
business as prescribed by section 41 (1) of the Insurance Act. 
  
The Capital Adequacy Ratio of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is illustrated below.

4.4 Fair value estimation
 
(a)	Fair	value	hierarchy	of	financial	assets	at	fair	value
 
The	table	below	analyses	financial	instruments	carried	at	fair	value,	by	valuation	method.	The	differ-
ent	levels	have	been	defined	as	follows:
 
• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabil-

ity, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).
• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs) (Level 3).

2022 2021

Ratio (%) Ratio (%)

Capital adequacy ratio 209% 195%                   

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 December 2022 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Equity instruments at FVTOCI 115,039 138,277 - 253,316
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

NOTES (CONTINUED)

4.4 Fair value estimation (continued)
 
(a) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at fair value (continued)

Level 2 Assets Valuation Technique

Assets under level 2 comprise unquoted shares that are valued using the OTC (Over The Counter) 
prices issued by the counterparty based on recent shares traded.

Level 3 Movement

The table below shows the movement in Level 3 Equity Instruments

(b) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at amortised cost

The	following	table	presents	the	fair	value	of	the	Company’s	financial	assets	measured	at	amortised	
cost at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 December 2021 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Equity instruments at FVOCI 139,291 133,590 100,963 373,844

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January 100,963 115,738

Additions - -

Disposals (246,747) -

Fair value gain/(loss) 145,784 ( 14,775)

At 31 December - 100,963

At 31 December 2022 Amortised cost

Fair 

value

Shs’000 Shs’000

Financial assets

Government securities 3,725,790 3,478,145

Corporate bonds 29,556 20,063

Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements 621,903 621,903

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 1,131,386 1,131,386

Other receivables 299,340 299,340

Cash and bank balances 319,350 319,350

Total 6,127,325 5,870,187
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

4.4 Fair value estimation (continued)

(b) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

5 Gross earned premium

6 Investment income

At 31 December 2021 Amortised cost Fair value

Shs’000 Shs’000

Financial assets

Government securities 2,972,649 2,969,675

Corporate bonds 29,556 17,755

Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements 695,553 695,553

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 910,962 910,962

Other receivables 44,696 44,696

Cash and bank balances 37,601 37,601

Total 4,691,017 4,676,242

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Motor 1,221,442 1,051,009

Fire 1,865,609 1,234,721

Workmen’s compensation 521,111 435,318

Marine 327,745 262,246

Personal accident 50,158 45,254

Engineering 522,743 511,536

Aviation 170,448 95,320

Miscellaneous 272,613 258,182

Theft 200,954 166,551

Others 141,024 83,335

Total 5,293,847 4,143,472

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Fair value loss on investment properties (Note 15) (    19,292) -

 Interest on bank deposits 81,157 90,583

 Interest on Government securities 408,448 283,796

 Rental income from investment properties (Note 15) 23,480 26,691

 Dividends receivable on equity instruments 40,740 25,826

 Interest on corporate bonds 3,546 612

 Total 538,079 427,508
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6 Investment income (continued)

7 Other income

8 Net claims incurred 

9  (a) Operating and other expenses 

NOTES (CONTINUED)

Investment income earned analysed by category of assets, is as follows:

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 81,157 90,583

Government	security	&	corporate	bonds 411,994 284,408

Equity investments 40,740 25,826

Investment property 4,188 26,691

Total investment income 538,079 427,508

Miscellaneous income 38,369 10,082

Motor 871,548 727,291

Workmen’s compensation 183,444 228,688

Marine 109,043 106,904

Theft 7,736 8,781

Fire 298,339 26,137

Engineering 109,745 58,800

Personal accident 4,246 10,139 

Other 70,415 42,639 

1,654,516 1,209,379

Staff costs (Note 10) 309,683 250,997

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 12) 26,140 25,176

Depreciation of right of use asset (Note 14) 4,223 4,439

Amortisation of computer software (Note 13) 14,407 14,047

Subscriptions 3,105 2,794

Repairs and maintenance expenditure 13,378 15,272

Rates and parking 7,466 6,053

Printing and stationery 7,151 7,689

Telephone and postage 8,884 8,385

Travelling and entertainment 19,668 14,902

Advertising costs 31,996 19,617

Licenses and insurance 11,495 7,394

Auditors’ remuneration 6,770 4,236

Directors’ emoluments 11,407 12,986

Premium tax 61,008 46,955

Other expenses 96,100 109,383

632,881 550,325
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
9. (a) Operating and other expenses (continued) 

The	other	expenses	majorly	relate	to	miscellaneous	office	expenses,	electricity	and	consultancy	fees.

 (b) Net impairment losses on financial instruments

10  Staff costs

The average number of employees during 
the year was as follows:

11  Income tax expense
  
(a) Taxation charge

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Government securities 2,321 1,133

Corporate bonds - 6

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 134  (    338)

Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements 1,554          12,660 

4,009 13,461

Salaries	and	benefits 284,455 228,162

Defined	contribution	retirement	schemes

- Pension Fund 24,981 22,607

- National Social Security Fund 247 228

309,683 250,997

Underwriting and claims 60 52

Management and administration 45 48

Total 105 100

Current tax expense in respect of the year 253,393 173,975

Deferred income tax – charge recognised (Note 33) 7,225 ( 15,781)

Over provision of deferred tax in prior years (Note 33) (   4,902) -

At 31 December 255,716 158,194
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11  Income tax expense (continued) 

(b) Reconciliation of taxation charge to expected based on accounting profit
   
The Company’s income tax expense is computed in accordance with income tax rules applicable to 
general insurance companies. 

(c) Current income tax

NOTES (CONTINUED)

2022 2021

Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000

Profit	before	income	tax 1,044,615 608,068

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 30% (2021 – 30%) 313,385 182,420

Tax effect of:

- Income not subject to tax (    72,875) ( 44,689)

- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 20,108 20,463

Deferred tax asset not recognised

- Over provision of deferred tax in prior years (      4,902) -

At 31 December 255,716 158,194

At 1 January 31,382 (    4,707)

Taxation charge – Note (11(a)) 253,393 173,975

Tax paid (  225,286) (137,886)

At 31 December 59,489 31,382
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
12   Property and equipment 

Building Partitioning Motor 

vehicles

Computer 
equipment

Furniture 
fittings and 
equipment

Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2021 265,884 101,642 16,214 31,426 74,488 489,654

Additions - - - 4,904 3,138 8,042

Disposals - - - - (    150) (      150)

At 31 December 2021 265,884 101,642 16,214 36,330 77,476 497,546

At 1 January 2022 265,884 101,642 16,214 36,330 77,476 497,546

Additions - 2,156 1,795 8,356 1,870 14,177

Disposals - (      605) ( 1,238) - (      54) (   1,897)

At 31 December 2022 265,884 103,193 16,771 44,686 79,292 509,826

Comprising

At cost 82,708 103,193 16,771 44,686 79,292 326,650

At valuation 2022 183,176 - - - - 183,176

At 31 December 2022 265,884 103,193 16,771 44,686 79,292 509,826

Depreciation

At 1 January 2021 - 50,347 11,251 23,703 43,617 128,918

Charge for the year 9,496 6,412 1,241 3,788 4,239 25,176

Eliminated on disposal - - - - (      77) (       77)

Reversal on revaluation (   9,496) - - - - (  9,496)

At 31 December 2021 - 56,759 12,492 27,491 47,779 144,521

At 1 January 2022 - 56,759 12,492 27,491 47,779 144,521

Charge for the year 9,848 5,846 1,349 5,158 3,939 26,140

Eliminated on disposal - (      333) ( 1,114) - (       7) (   1,454)

Reversal on revaluation (   9,848) - - - - (   9,848)

At 31 December 2022 - 62,272 12,727 32,649 51,711 159,359

 Net book value

 At 31 December 2022 265,884 40,921 4,044 12,037 27,581 350,467

 At 31 December 2021 265,884 44,883 3,722 8,839 29,697 353,025

 Net book value (cost basis)

 At 31 December 2022 56,770 40,921 4,044 12,037 27,581 141,353

 At 31 December 2021 58,872 44,883 3,722 8,839 29,697 146,013
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12 Property and equipment (continued)

The building was valued on 31 December 2022 by Gimco Limited, registered valuers, on an open 
market value basis using the highest and best use valuation principle.

The	different	levels	have	been	defined	as	follows:
• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabil-

ity, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).
• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs) (Level 3).

Details of the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s property held at fair value as at 31 December 
2022 are as follows:

13 Intangible assets – computer software

NOTES (CONTINUED)

31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Property, plant and 
equipment

- - 265,884 265,884

31 December 2021

Property, plant and 
equipment

-  - 265,884 265,884

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Cost

At 1 January 100,676 89,218

Additions 9,265 11,458

At 31 December 109,941 100,676

Amortisation

At 1 January 85,539 71,492

Charge for the year 14,407 14,047

At 31 December 99,946 85,539

Net book value 9,995 15,137
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
14 Right-of-use asset

The Company leases rental property in the two branches-Eldoret and Mombasa.

15 Investment properties

Investment properties comprise a building and leasehold land. The building constructed on the land 
is held for the purposes of earning rental income and capital appreciation. The investment properties 
are held at fair value. The properties were valued on 31 December 2022 by Gimco Limited, registered 
valuers, on an open market value basis using the highest and best use valuation principle.

Rental income arising from investment properties during the year amounted to Shs 23,479,961 
(2021 – Shs 26,469,591) as disclosed in Note 6. Expenses relating to investment property amounted 
to Shs 854,175 (2021 – Shs 1,843,078).

Details of the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s Investment property held at fair value as at 31 
December 2021 are as follows:

16 Investment in associates

The Company has a 40% equity interest in Mayfair Insurance Company Zambia Limited, Mayfair In-
surance Company Tanzania Limited, Mayfair Insurance Company Rwanda Limited, Mayfair Insurance 
Uganda Limited and Mayfair Insurance Congo.

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January 7,660 12,099

Lease	modification 5,905 -

Depreciation (4,223) ( 4,439)

At 31 December 9,342 7,660

2022 2021

Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000

426,089 426,089

157,859 -

( 19,292) -

At 31 December 564,656 426,089

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

31 December 2022 564,656 564,656

31 December 2021 - - 426,089 426,089

Revaluation

At 1 January 

Additions

Revaluation loss
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16 Investment in associates (continued)
 
The share of net assets of the associate as at 31 December is as shown below:

The year ends of all the associates is 31 December, which coincides with the year end of the Com-
pany.	There	are	no	immaterial	associates	and	no	significant	restrictions	on	transfer	of	funds,	cash,	or	
dividends on any of the associates at both 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. A summary of 
financial	information	as	of	31	December	2022	in	respect	of	the	associate	companies	is	set	out	below:

NOTES (CONTINUED)

2022 2021

Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000

At 1 January 971,716 399,014

Share	of	net	profit

- Mayfair Zambia 44,196 9,749

- Mayfair Rwanda 34,303 8,346

- Mayfair Tanzania 25,434 44,123

- Mayfair Uganda 26,235 5,137

- Mayfair Congo  55,037 ( 29,343)

Total 185,205 38,012

Additions 68,610 534,690

At 31 December 1,225,531 971,716

Company
% owned Country of incorporation

Mayfair Insurance Company Zambia Limited 40 Zambia

Mayfair Insurance Company Tanzania Limited 40 Tanzania

Mayfair Insurance Company Rwanda Limited 40 Rwanda

Mayfair Insurance Company Uganda Limited 40 Uganda

Mayfair Insurance Company Congo Limited 40 Congo 
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
16 Investment in associates (continued)

17 Investment in joint arrangements

The Company holds interests in joint operations for the acquisition and the development of real estate 
projects in the above companies. Currently, the Company has deposited funds with the Companies 
that are serving as vehicles for execution of joint arrangement projects. The joint operations have not 
yet commenced full operation.

Rushmore Investments Limited was disposed off in the year at Shs. 46M. The gain on disposal was 
Shs. 2.283M.

Zambia Rwanda Tanzania Uganda Congo

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Total assets 1,696,904 1,047,293 2,124,838 998,922 3,234,055

Total liabilities ( 1,346,740) (  613,711) ( 1,601,311) (498,019) ( 1,978,349)

Net assets 350,164 433,582 523,467 500,903 1,255,706

Company’s share of net assets 140,067 173,433 209,387 200,361 502,283

Net earned premiums 415,119 200,107 771,228 540,086 359,738

Profit	before	income	tax 101,819 87,711 122,652 54,538 57,026

Income tax ( 27,191) (    28,304) (    47,638) (    9,547) ( 17,108)

Profit	for	the	year 74,628 59,407 75,014 44,991 39,918

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities (    17,687) 121,378 96,364 (209,934) 77,805

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities (    16,253) (  153,818) 47,263 (    5,231) ( 47,618)

Cashflows	from	financing	activities (    37,252) (      5,947) (    54,407) 186,034 -

Net	movement	in	cash	flows (   71,192) (    38,387) 89,220 (  29,131) 30,187

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January 321,288 321,229

Additions 590 59

Disposals   ( 43,716) -

At 31 December 278,162 321,288
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17 Investment in joint arrangements (continued)

The maximum loss exposure is the cost invested by the company in the joint arrangements. The car-
rying amounts of the joint investment in the joint arrangement are carried at cost as they have not 
commenced any operations.

18 Equity investments at FVOCI

NOTES (CONTINUED)

Name of joint arrangement 
Principal 
activity

Place 
of 
incor-
pora-
tion

Proportion 
of ownership 
interest held 
by the Com-
pany

Maximum loss exposure

             2022

Shs’000

             2021

Shs’000

Mayfair Estates Limited Real Estate Kenya 50%
70,350 70,350

Kitisuru Development  Limited Real Estate Kenya 30%
138,953 138,953

Sealine Holdings Limited Real Estate Kenya 30%
68,859 68,859

Rushmore Investments Limited Real Estate Kenya
20% - 43,126

278,162 321,288

Quoted

shares

Unquoted equity 

investments Total

2022 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January 139,291 234,553 373,844

Additions - - -

Disposals - (246,747) (246,747)

Exchange losses - 5,317 5,317

Fair value (loss)/gain through 
other comprehensive income ( 24,252) 145,154 120,902

At 31 December 115,039 138,277 253,316

Quoted

shares
Unquoted equity invest-

ments Total

2021 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January 129,020 765,912 894,932

Additions - 3,534 3,534

Disposals -           (508,862)        (508,862)

Exchange losses -                 2,451 2,451 

Fair value (loss)/gain through 
other comprehensive income 10,271  (  28,482) (  18,211)

At 31 December 139,291 234,553 373,844
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
18 Equity investments at FVOCI

The unquoted investments relate to ordinary shares in PTA Reinsurance Company Limited, Family 
Bank Company Limited, UAP Holdings. The investments are carried at fair value and are denominat-
ed in US Dollar in the case of the investment in PTA Reinsurance and in Kenya shillings in all other 
cases. The investments denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Kenya Shillings at the 
rates of exchange ruling at the end of reporting period. The exchange gains and losses are dealt with 
through other comprehensive income. 

19 Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions and reserves

20 Deferred acquisition costs

21 Receivables arising out of direct insurance

The amounts receivable do not carry interest and are due within period ranging from 30 days to 90 
days.

22 Other receivables

             2022          2021

       Shs’000 Shs’000

Reinsurers’ share of

- Unearned premiums 845,525 815,403

- Notified	claims	(Note	29) 1,189,651 317,690

- Claims incurred but not reported (Note 29) 155,258 94,885

2,190,434 1,227,978

At 1 January 247,904 193,168

Net movement in the year 57,993 54,736

305,897 247,904

648,023 720,118

( 26,120) (  24,565)

621,903 695,553

        2022         2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Prepayments and deposits 1,749 1,612

Loans receivable 18,803 17,164

Rent and other receivables 32,041 25,920

Other receivables 246,747 -

299,340 44,696

Premium receivables
Provision for impairment
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23 Government securities – amortised cost

Government Bonds of Shs 490 million (2021: Shs 330 million) are held by the Central Bank of Kenya 
under lien to the Commissioner of Insurance in accordance with the Kenyan Insurance Act.

24 Corporate Bonds – amortised cost

25 Deposits with financial institutions

NOTES (CONTINUED)

        2022         2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

- Within 90 days 20,770 -

- In 1 to 5 years 420,100 91,868

- More than 5 years 3,284,920 2,877,807

3,725,790 2,969,675

2,969,675 1,912,145

801,410 1,108,404

(    40,000) (    47,900)

(      5,295) (      2,974)

At 31 December 3,725,790 2,969,675

         2022        2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

East Africa Breweries Limited 29,556 29,562

At 1 January 29,556 -

Additions - 29,562

Impairment provision -  (           6)

At 31 December 29,556 29,556

Deposits maturing within 3 months 1,131,386 910,962

Movement	in	deposits	with	financial	institutions

At 1 January 910,962 1,292,678

Additions 346,485 66,492

Redemptions (  125,481) (  447,424)

Impairment provision (         580) (         784)

At 31 December 1,131,386 910,962

Movement in government securities

At 1 January 

Additions

Maturities/redemptions

Impairment provision
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
26 Weighted average effective interest rates

The following table summarises the weighted average effective interest rates realised during the year 
on interest-bearing investments:

27 Share capital and reserves

(a) Share capital

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 15,000,000 (2021: 15,000,000), with a par value 
of Shs. 100 per share (2021:  Shs.  100 per share). All issued shares are fully paid. All the ordinary 
shares rank equally with regards to Company’s residual assets and are entitled to dividends as de-
clared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the company.

(a) Fair value revaluation reserve 

The fair value revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative fair value changes for equity instruments 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). This reserve is not distributable.

(b) Property revaluation reserve 

The property revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative fair value changes on the occupied prop-
erty. This reserve is not distributable.

(c) Retained earnings 

Retained earnings represent the percentage of net earnings not paid out as dividends, but retained by 
the Company to be reinvested in its core business activities.

28 Outstanding claims provision

2022 2021 

% %

Government securities 12.5 12.3

Deposits	with	financial	institutions 8.2 7.6

Corporate Bonds 12.3 12.3

Total no. of shares Shs’000

At 1 January 2021 15,000,000 1,500,000

At 31 December 2021 15,000,000 1,500,000

At 1 January 2022 15,000,000 1,500,000

At 31 December 2022 15,000,000 1,500,000

2022 2021

Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000

Outstanding claims 3,798,263 2,396,174

Claims incurred but not reported 575,221 412,016

At 31 December 4,373,484 2,808,190
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
29 Movement in insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets

The table below shows the movement in the Company’s outstanding claims provision and related re-
insurance share of outstanding claims

Gross out-
standing 

claims Reinsurance share Net

At 1 January 2022 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

	Notified	claims 2,396,174 317,690 2,078,484

 Incurred but not reported 412,016 94,885 317,131

Total at beginning of year 2,808,190 412,575 2,395,615

Claims paid in year 1,468,065 446,510 1,021,555

Increase in liabilities: -

 Arising from current year claims 181,279 24,034 157,245

 Arising from prior year claims 2,852,080 1,354,810 1,497,270

At end of year 4,373,484 1,344,909 3,028,575

	Notified	claims 3,798,263 1,189,651 2,608,612

Incurred but not reported 575,221 155,258 419,963

Total at end of year 4,373,484 1,344,909 3,028,575

 At 1 January 2021

	Notified	claims 2,353,094 633,421 1,719,673

 Incurred but not reported 331,415 60,278 271,137

Total at beginning of year 2,684,509 693,699 1,990,810

Claims paid in year 1,858,273 1,053,700 804,573

Increase in liabilities: -

 Arising from current year claims 294,267 179,213 115,054

 Arising from prior year claims 1,687,687 593,363 1,094,324

At end of year 2,808,190 412,575 2,395,615

	Notified	claims 2,396,174 317,690 2,078,484

Incurred but not reported 412,016 94,885 317,131

Total at end of year 2,808,190 412,575 2,395,615
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30 Unearned premium reserve

The	total	cash	outflow	for	leases	in	2022	was	Shs	5.2	million	(2021:	Shs	5.4	million)	that	related	
to principal portion of lease payments, expenses related to short term leases and interest expense on 
the leases.

Where practicable, the Company seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide opera-
tional	flexibility.	The	Company	assesses	at	lease	commencement	date	whether	it	is	reasonably	certain	
to exercise the extension options. The Company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise 
the	options	if	there	is	a	significant	event	or	significant	changes	in	circumstances	within	its	control.	If	
the extension option is taken up, the impact in our books is Shs 4.9 million.

NOTES (CONTINUED)

2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January 1,584,973 1,324,825

Net increase in the year 256,367 260,148

At 31 December 1,841,340 1,584,973

31       Deferred reinsurance commissions
At 1 January 140,735 106,728

Increase in the year 19,452 34,007

At 31 December           160,187 140,735

32     Lease liabilities
Opening balance 9,085 13,238

Lease	modification 5,777 -

Interest on lease liability 580 1,262

Lease payments (  5,212) ( 5,415)

10,230 9,085

The balance sheet shows the following amounts 

relating to leases

Current 4,153 4,153

Non-current 6,077 4,932

10,230 9,085

The	statement	of	profit	or	loss	shows	

the following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 4,223 4.439

Interest expense     580 1,262

Expense relating to short-term leases (included 
in administrative expenses) 573 899
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
33 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is calculated using the enacted tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%). Deferred tax as-
sets	and	liabilities,	and	the	deferred	tax	charge/(credit)	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	(P/L)	and	in	
other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributable to the following items:

             2022         2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

At 1 January 71,501 85,788

Charge	to	statement	of	profit	or	loss	 7,225 (15,781)

Charge to statement of comprehensive income 21,039 1,494

Under provision of deferred tax in prior years ( 4,902) -

At 31 December 94,863 71,501

Year ended 

31 December 2022 At 1 January 
2022

(Credited/
charged to P/L

(Credited)/
charged to OCI

At 31 December 
2022

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Deferred income tax asset

Leave pay provision (  3,425) (     51) - (   3,476)

Unrealised exchange losses (  5,937) 5,267 - (      670)

Provisions (  5,198) (5,423) - ( 10,621)

Deferred income tax asset (14,560) (   207) - ( 14,767)

Deferred income tax liability

PPE at historical cost basis 34,830 4,027 23,872 62,729

Revaluation surplus 54,452 (1,709) (2,833) 49,910

Right of use asset (  3,221) 212 - (   3,009)

Deferred income tax liability 86,061 2,530 21,039 109,630

Net deferred tax liability 71,501 2,323 21,039 94,863
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33 Deferred income tax (continued)

The charge to other comprehensive income relates to:

34 Other payables

NOTES (CONTINUED)

Year ended 
31 December 2021

At 1 January 
2021

(Credited/
charged to P/L

(Credited)/
charged to 

OCI

At 31 December 
2021

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Deferred income tax asset

Leave pay provision (3,425) - - (  3,425)

Unrealised exchange losses (   670) (  5,267) - (  5,937)

Provisions (1,770) (  3,428) - (  5,198)

Deferred income tax asset (5,865) (  8,695) - (14,560)

Deferred income tax liability

PPE at historical cost basis 38,181 (  3,351) - 34,830

Revaluation surplus 52,958 - 1,494 54,452

Right of use asset 514 (  3,735) - (  3,221)

Deferred income tax liability 91,653 (  7,086) 1,494 86,061

Net deferred tax liability 85,788 (15,781) 1,494 71,501

        2022          2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Items	that	will	not	be	reclassified	subsequently	to	profit	or	loss:

  Surplus on revaluation of property and equipment 9,848 9,496

Accrued expenses 18,313 15,156

Other liabilities 197,057 183,940

215,370 199,096
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NOTES (CONTINUED)
35 Notes to the statement of cashflows

Deferred income tax is calculated using the enacted tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%). Deferred tax as-
sets	and	liabilities,	and	the	deferred	tax	charge/(credit)	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	(P/L)	and	in	
other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributable to the following items:

(b) Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

36 Related parties
The following transactions were carried out with related parties

Cash generated from operations      

         2022         2021

  Shs’000      Shs’000

Reconciliation	of	profit	before	income	tax	to	cash	generated	from	operations;

Profit	before	income	tax 1,044,615 608,068

Adjustments for:

Depreciation (note 12) 26,140        25,176 

Amortisation of intangible asset (note 13) 14,407       14,047 

Fair value loss on investment properties (note 15) (    19,292) -

Amortisation of leases (Notes 14) 4,223 4,439    

Finance charge on leases (Note 32) 580 1,262

Impairment	of	financial	assets	as	per	IFRS	9	(Note	9(b)) (      4,009) (    13,461)

Share	of	profit	of	associate	after	tax	(Note	16) (  185,205) (    38,012)

Gain/	loss	on	disposal	of	property	&	equipment (         111)           43

Gain on disposal of joint arrangement (      2,283) -

Changes in:                    

- receivables arising out of reinsurance arrangements 29,578 (    97,813)

- receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements 73,650      (  212,018)

- reinsurers share of technical provisions and reserves (  962,456)       139,586 

- deferred acquisition cost (    57,993)  (54,736)

- other receivables (  254,644)         49,676 

- outstanding claims provisions 1,565,294       123,681 

- unearned premiums reserve 256,367       260,148 

- payables arising out of reinsurance arrangements (  211,620)       319,972 

- payables arising out of direct insurance arrangements (    50,942)         54,629 

- deferred reinsurance commission 19,452         34,007 

- other payables 16,275 69,672

Cash generated from operations 1,302,026 1,288,366

Cash and bank balances 319,350 264,097

Deposits	with	financial	institutions	maturing	in	3	months	(Note	24) 1,131,386 910,962

At 31 December 1,450,736 1,175,059

Directors’ fees 11,407 12,986

Directors and key management remuneration 144,305 113,832

Gross earned premiums 4,236 3,425
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37 Dividends

The	Directors	recommend	a	first	and	final	cash	dividend	of	Shs	23.33	per	share	amounting	to	Shs	
350,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021 dividends Shs 125,000,000). 
The movement in the dividend account is as follows:

NOTES (CONTINUED)

        2022 2021

Shs’000 Shs’000

Proposed at 1 January 125,000 200,000

Final dividend declared 350,000 125,000

Declared dividends paid (125,000) (200,000)

At 31 December 350,000 125,000

NOTES (CONTINUED)



90

AP
PE

ND
IX

 
CO

M
PA

NY
 R

EV
EN

UE
 A

CC
OU

NT
S

FO
R 

TH
E 

YE
AR

 E
ND

ED
 3

1 
DE

CE
M

BE
R 

20
22

C
la

ss
 o

f 
in

su
ra

nc
e

Av
ia

ti
on

E
ng

in
ee

ri
ng

Fi
re

 
D

om
es

ti
c

Fi
re

 
In

du
st

ri
al

Li
ab

ili
ty

M
ar

in
e

M
ot

or
 

P
ri

va
te

M
ot

or
 

C
om

er
ci

al
P

er
so

na
l 

A
cc

id
en

t
Th

ef
t

W
or

km
en

s’
 

C
om

pe
ns

at
io

n
M

is
ce

lla
ne

ou
s

2
0

2
2

 
To

ta
l

2
0

2
1

To
ta

l

B
us

in
es

s
S

hs
’0

0
0

S
hs

’0
0

0
S

hs
’0

0
0

S
hs

’0
0

0
S

hs
’0

0
0

S
hs

’0
0

0
S

hs
’0

0
0

S
hs

’0
0

0
S

hs
’0

0
0

S
hs

’0
0

0
S

hs
’0

0
0

S
hs

’0
0

0
S

hs
’0

0
0

S
hs

’0
0

0

G
ro

ss
 p

re
m

iu
m

 w
ri

tt
en

1
7

0
,5

5
0

5
5

9
,0

9
4

1
1

4
,9

6
8

1
,7

9
5

,3
2

8
1

4
7

,0
4

2
3

3
0

,7
7

4
6

7
8

,5
7

6
6

0
7

,7
7

0
5

1
,4

9
2

2
0

5
,7

1
8

5
5

9
,9

4
8

2
9

8
,8

3
3

5
,5

2
0

,0
9

3
4

,2
6

2
,0

8
1

 

U
ne

ar
ne

d 
pr

em
iu

m
 a

t 
th

e 
be

gi
n-

ni
ng

 o
f 

th
e 

ye
ar

2
8

5
6

,7
0

1
1

9
,9

6
9

5
7

,3
3

2
2

4
,7

4
2

2
6

,6
1

1
2

2
8

,9
0

4
1

5
2

,7
6

3
6

,7
2

8
1

3
,5

1
5

1
5

3
,4

9
5

2
8

,7
8

2
7

6
9

,5
7

0

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

6
5

0
,9

6
0

 

U
ne

ar
ne

d 
pr

em
iu

m
 a

t 
th

e 
en

d 
of

 
th

e 
ye

ar
1

3
0

9
3

,0
5

2
2

4
,0

7
6

9
7

,9
1

2
3

0
,7

6
0

2
9

,6
4

0
2

5
8

,0
1

2
1

8
8

,5
5

9
8

,0
6

3
1

8
,2

7
9

1
9

2
,3

3
1

5
5

,0
0

2
9

9
5

,8
1

6

  
  

  
  

  
  

  

7
6

9
,5

7
0

 

P
re

m
iu

m
 c

ed
ed

 t
o 

re
-i

ns
ur

er
s

1
6

9
,4

6
9

3
6

6
,1

5
8

4
8

,6
5

3
1

,4
5

7
,6

0
1

6
5

,4
5

8
1

1
6

,9
3

9
5

,6
8

5
2

3
,9

3
5

2
0

,2
1

8
1

4
8

,1
8

8
5

,6
2

0
1

7
7

,1
3

3
2

,6
0

5
,0

5
7

2
,1

1
7

,1
5

3
 

 N
et

 e
ar

ne
d 

pr
em

iu
m

9
7

9
1

5
6

,5
8

5
6

2
,2

0
8

2
9

7
,1

4
7

7
5

,5
6

6
2

1
0

,8
0

6
6

4
3

,7
8

3
5

4
8

,0
3

9
2

9
,9

3
9

5
2

,7
6

6
5

1
5

,4
9

2
9

5
,4

8
0

2
,6

8
8

,7
9

0
2

,0
2

6
,3

1
8

C
la

im
s 

pa
id

2
3

6
6

,6
7

3
1

0
,0

0
6

3
9

,7
7

6
8

,5
7

4
6

3
,2

1
0

3
5

2
,7

4
1

2
8

2
,8

1
9

1
,2

4
9

8
,3

0
1

1
7

3
,0

3
0

1
5

,1
5

3
1

,0
2

1
,5

5
5

8
0

4
,5

7
3

C
la

im
s 

ou
ts

ta
nd

in
g 

br
ou

gh
t 

fo
rw

ar
d 

1
9

4
5

,0
1

7
5

,9
8

2
1

1
3

,5
4

1
4

0
,7

7
6

1
6

9
,6

4
3

3
1

4
,5

4
7

7
5

9
,4

5
0

1
0

,4
3

6
1

7
,7

4
8

8
5

8
,6

2
5

5
9

,8
3

0
2

,3
9

5
,6

1
4

1
,9

9
0

,8
1

0

C
la

im
s 

ou
ts

ta
nd

in
g 

ca
rr

ie
d 

fo
rw

ar
d

9
0

8
8

8
,0

9
0

3
3

,2
4

3
3

3
4

,8
4

0
7

0
,6

3
9

2
1

5
,4

7
5

3
9

0
,1

5
5

9
1

9
,8

3
1

1
3

,4
3

3
1

7
,1

8
2

8
6

9
,0

3
9

7
5

,7
4

0
3

,0
2

8
,5

7
5

2
,3

9
5

,6
1

5

C
la

im
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

9
1

2
1

0
9

,7
4

6
3

7
,2

6
7

2
6

1
,0

7
5

3
8

,4
3

7
1

0
9

,0
4

2
4

2
8

,3
4

9
4

4
3

,2
0

0
4

,2
4

6
7

,7
3

5
1

8
3

,4
4

4
3

1
,0

6
3

1
,6

5
4

,5
1

6
1

,2
0

9
,3

7
8

C
om

m
is

si
on

s 
(n

et
)

(2
1

,6
4

9
)

(3
5

,6
2

1
)

1
1

,9
3

2
  

  
6

2
,9

8
3

)
1

1
,5

4
3

3
2

,0
2

6
6

2
,5

8
6

5
3

,3
0

6
2

,5
4

5
( 

1
,7

9
8

)
9

9
,9

6
7

( 
3

8
,0

1
2

)
1

1
3

,8
4

2
 1

1
9

,4
2

6
 

E
xp

en
se

s 
of

 m
an

ag
em

en
t

3
,1

3
2

6
1

,5
9

3
6

,9
1

6
6

0
,6

1
0

1
4

,6
0

7
3

6
,8

4
5

2
7

,9
4

7
8

,5
3

5
3

2
,6

1
8

7
7

,5
2

3
9

2
,6

5
7

5
3

2
,7

7
5

4
7

2
,5

4
9

 

P
re

m
iu

m
 t

ax
1

,8
8

5
6

,1
7

9
1

,2
7

1
1

9
,8

4
2

1
,6

2
5

3
,6

5
6

7
,5

0
0

6
,7

1
7

5
6

9
2

,2
7

4
6

,1
8

9
3

,3
0

3
6

1
,0

1
0

4
6

,9
5

5
 

To
ta

l e
xp

en
se

s
(1

6
,6

3
2

)
3

2
,1

5
1

2
0

,1
1

9
1

7
,4

6
9

2
7

,7
7

5
7

2
,5

2
7

8
7

,9
7

0
1

1
,6

4
9

3
3

,0
9

4
1

8
3

,6
7

9
5

7
,9

4
8

7
0

7
,6

2
7

6
3

8
,9

3
0

 

U
nd

er
w

ri
ti

ng
 p

ro
fit

1
6

,6
9

9
1

4
,6

8
8

4
,8

2
2

1
8

,6
0

3
9

,3
5

4
2

9
,2

3
7

3
5

,5
5

6
1

6
,8

6
9

1
4

,0
4

4
1

1
,9

3
7

1
4

8
,3

6
9

6
,4

6
9

3
2

6
,6

4
7

1
7

8
,0

1
0



91

KENYA

Nairobi 

Mombasa
Nyali Branch

Zanzibar
Branch

Chirundu
Branch

Nakonde
Branch

Choma
Branch

Kasumbalesa
Branch

Kazungula
Branch

Arusha
Branch

Mwanza
Branch

Musanze
Branch

Rubavu
Branch

Rusizi
Branch

Copperbelt Region
Kitwe Branch

Mombasa 
Town Office

Eldoret
Branch

Lusaka Dar es Salaam Kigali Kampala Kinshasa

ZAMBIA TANZANIA RWANDA UGANDA DR CONGO

Lubumbashi
Branch

Goma
Branch

Kolwezi
Branch

AFFILIATE COMPANY

MAYFAIR ASSETS 
MANAGERS LTD

MAYFAIR OFFICES
Mayfair Insurance is a premier insurance company with a growing footprint in Eastern, Central and 
Southern Africa.
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Imm. Rosons Tower
8eme Niveau Bureau 8B
126 Boulevard du 30 Juin
Gombe Kinshasa, RDC
+243820142209
info@mayfair.co.cd
cd.mayfairinsurance.africa


